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Sales £817.0m (2001: £535.9m)

+52%
Pre-tax profits £81.6m (before goodwill and
exceptional items) (2001: £70.6m) 

+16%
Adjusted earnings per share 30.40p 
(2001: restated 30.32p) 

level
Dividends per share 14.85p 
(2001: restated 14.12p) 

+5%

Textile maintenance

This business provides workwear rental, linen
hire and washroom services. Within the UK,
Sunlight occupies a leading market position
providing service on a national basis from 
50 laundries. Overseas, the business has a 
presence in France and Ireland. 

Acquired in April 2002, the business offers
a full range of textile maintenance services
from 76 laundries in Scandinavia, Germany,
the Netherlands and Poland.

A wide variety of tools and small plant
for hire through an extensive chain of
outlets, principally in the UK. It has outlets
throughout the UK and Eire, with branches
also in the US, Germany and franchises in 
eight other countries.

Elliott designs and manufactures modular
buildings which are supplied to customers
on a hire or direct sales basis. It is a leader 
in the UK market in both the direct sale
and rental sectors.

Brands

Textile maintenance – Berendsen Brands

Tool hire Brands

Building systems Brands

Locations

UK
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Locations
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The 
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This is Davis
The Davis Service Group provides a range of rental based
services to a broad spread of commercial, industrial,
leisure and public sector customers.

In each area of activity the individual group companies
have long established and well recognised names which,
together with their trading success, have resulted in their
securing leading positions in their respective markets.

Through a combination of organic and acquisitive
growth the group continually develops and expands 
the range of products and services provided.
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2002 Financial summary

£248.9m
Turnover (2001: £238.7m)

£41.1m
Operating profit (2001: £38.0m)

16.5%
Operating margin (2001: 15.9%)

Financial performance

Operating profit £000 Annualised contribution to group turnover  

2002 41,107
2001 38,005
2000 37,830
1999 36,058
1998 32,155

Operating profit £000

2002 24,744

Operating profit £000

2002 18,882
2001 26,406
2000 23,534
1999 22,501
1998 21,332

Operating profit £000

2002 17,606
2001 16,020
2000 11,408
1999 9,183
1998 8,221

2002 Financial summary

£245.8m
Turnover  

£24.7m
Operating profit

10.1%
Operating margin

Financial performance

Annualised contribution to group turnover 

2002 Financial summary

£182.1m
Turnover (2001: £173.7m)

£18.9m
Operating profit (2001: £26.4m)

10.4%
Operating margin (2001: 15.2%)

Financial performance

Annualised contribution to group turnover 

2002 Financial summary

£140.1m
Turnover (2001: £123.5m)

£17.6m
Operating profit (2001: £16.0m)

12.6%
Operating margin (2001: 13.0%)

Financial performance

Annualised contribution to group turnover 

Markets

Hotels and restaurants

Industry and commerce

Healthcare

Markets

Hotels and restaurants

Industry and commerce

Healthcare

Markets

Retail

Building and construction

Manufacturing 

Services and utilities

Markets

Public sector

Construction industry

Industrial

27%

38%

15%

20%
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Chairman’s statement
Neil Benson 

At the end of the period it purchased Contract
Lifting Services, a cabin hire business based 
in Southampton, which brought some 2,000
additional units into the hire fleet.

At Berendsen the early focus has been,
and will continue to be, predominantly margin
improvement. At the same time, however,
we have widened the range of development
opportunities available to us in continental
Europe, and in the last quarter of the year
we have taken advantage of this. We have
entered the Austrian healthcare market by
way of our German operation, and we have
made two small acquisitions in the garment
and facilities sector for our Swedish business.

Employees We now have over 20,000 
staff within the group across twelve countries.
Their individual efforts combine to produce
the reported results we are now presenting –
on your behalf and on behalf of the board 
I thank them all for their efforts.

Pensions Shareholders will be conscious 
of the ongoing debate on pensions.
Although our funds are now closed to 
new members, our policy is to remain
committed to the group’s existing schemes.
You will see from note 8 that under FRS17
our funds have a deficit at 31st December
2002 of £28.7 million which is very much 
a snapshot of the position at that moment 
in time and is very closely influenced by 
the state of the equity markets. Whilst this
sum is not recognised on our balance 
sheet, over recent years on the advice of 
our professional advisors we have increased
substantially our annual contribution levels 
in recognition of the growing deficit.

Board John Franks, our Deputy Chairman, 
is retiring from the board at the next annual
general meeting. Mr Franks has been a director
of the company for many years. Prior to the
Davis merger with Sunlight in 1987 he was
Sunlight’s Group Chairman. Throughout the
period of his involvement he has taken a keen
interest in the detail of the group’s business
and has made a substantial contribution to
its development. We shall all miss his input.

This retirement marks the start of a
process of change and renewal. My task is
to ensure the process is carried out smoothly
and efficiently.

Outlook With the world’s major economies 
in a troubled state, the signs are that 2003
will see little if any improvement in the
trading background. In such circumstances
we are pleased to have made in Berendsen 
a significant strategic move last year that
provides a further platform for growth 
and increased profitability and accordingly,
we expect the group to make good 
progress in the coming year.

N W Benson Chairman

Group turnover £000

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

406,569

429,760

470,935

535,918

816,962

(continuing operations)

Operating profit £000

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

59,110

65,320

69,975

76,632

98,810

(continuing operations)
(before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items)

Adjusted earnings per share pence

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

23.70

26.27

26.93

30.32

30.40

(restated for 2002 Rights Issue)

(restated for 2002 Rights Issue)
Dividends per share pence

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

10.75

11.86

12.71

14.12

14.85

2002 was a significant year for the group
with the acquisition of Berendsen which
provides textile rental services in six European
countries. Taken with our UK based textile
rental business it makes us a major force 
in the European market.

The scale of the acquisition was such
that it has had considerable impact on 
both the structure and the financing of our
group. Accordingly it is pleasing to report
that Berendsen has made a strong initial
contribution to the group’s earnings. 
Taken overall the results of our other
businesses can be considered to be highly
satisfactory given the challenging business
climate in both the UK and America.

Results and dividend Turnover at 
£817.0 million (2001: £535.9 million) and
profit before tax, before goodwill amortisation
and exceptional items at £81.6 million
(2001: £70.6 million) showed increases 
of 52% and 16% over the previous year.
Adjusted earnings per share at 30.40 pence
were just ahead of last year (2001: 30.32
pence – restated for the 2002 Rights Issue).

Your board is recommending a final
dividend of 10.1 pence, which together with
the interim dividend of 4.75 pence paid in
October 2002, gives a total of 14.85 pence,
an increase of 5.2% on last year’s 14.12
pence, restated for the 2002 Rights Issue. 
The dividend is covered two times by
adjusted earnings per share.

A detailed review of the performance 
of each of our businesses is set out in the
Chief Executive’s review on pages 3 to 11.

Development Whilst the acquisition of
Berendsen was the major strategic event in
the year, a number of other steps were taken
to push the group forward. Over the year, 
we have invested a further £32.5 million 
in other acquisitions.

Sunlight’s healthcare business continues
to grow and is now providing us with
opportunities to widen the nature of our
service and the products we offer. In 2001
our Irish textile rental business purchased a
new site for our Dublin operations. Preparation
of this site is now at an advanced stage and
we expect to move into the new premises 
by the end of the first quarter of 2003.

Within HSS we have continued to
develop our UK agency programme. There
are early indications that this will be a useful
vehicle in assisting growth in both the USA
and Germany. In the United States we have
substantially completed the programme of
improvements that we targeted at the time
of acquisition.

Elliott continues to develop by
acquisition, and purchased two businesses in
the year for its hire division. In June it acquired
Porterplant, a company that hires and services
portable toilets. The business will provide 
us with an excellent base for developing 
this specialised sector of the hire market. 
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Operating review
Sophus Berendsen acquisition
John Ivey 

Sophus Berendsen acquisition Before
reporting on the operating results of the
group’s businesses, it seems appropriate 
to give some general background on the
company, its performance and to comment
on the strategy behind the acquisition and
our expectations for the business.

Strategy and background Davis’ strategy 
has been to focus on building market
leadership for each of its individual business
units within the United Kingdom. With this
task substantially completed, Davis has begun
to take advantage of opportunities to expand
its operations overseas. In relation to its textile
maintenance activities, Davis has a long
established but modest presence in both
Germany and France, but has not sought 
to add to either of these operations by 
way of infill acquisitions, preferring to wait
until an opportunity of substance arose in
continental Europe. Berendsen represented
such an opportunity.

Davis and Berendsen have had contacts
with each other over a number of years. 
Both management teams considered that the
respective textile service activities of the two
companies were highly complementary but 
it was only when Berendsen became a pure
textile rental company that Davis considered
a combination of the two companies would
be feasible.

Acquisition process We made a
recommended offer on 22nd March 2002
valuing the Berendsen group at £426 million.
This offer was accepted by the Berendsen
investors and the business became part 
of the Davis group from 22nd April 2002.
The funding for the acquisition was 
raised by a rights issue to shareholders 
of £147.3 million net of expenses and a 
new syndicated loan facility amongst 
14 banks of £425 million.

The Berendsen business Berendsen is a
leading textile rental provider in Denmark,
Sweden and Norway and also has operations
in Germany, the Netherlands, Poland and
Estonia. The business has three operating
divisions. The Hotels, Restaurant and
Healthcare Division provides linen rental 
and laundry services to these markets. 
The Garments and Safety Division rents,
launders and maintains a wide range of
workwear for industry. The Facility Service
and Wipers Division provides a range of
products and services for improving hygiene
and removing dampness and dirt.

Our expectations for the business 
The business mix of the Berendsen business is
very similar to that of Sunlight our UK Textile
rental business and yet its operating margins
were low (by trade standards) suggesting that
an opportunity exists to improve significantly 
its operating margins. We believe this to be
the case. 

Additionally we are of the view that 
the Berendsen markets have the potential 
for organic sales growth rates above those 
or textile maintenance in the UK and that
Berendsen will provide a base for further
development opportunities particularly in
continental Europe.

Our steps to improve profitability 
Whilst ongoing organic growth and
development by acquisition will enhance
shareholder value, the main benefit to
shareholders will come from the improvement
in Berendsen’s profitability.

At the time of acquisition, Berendsen
had in place plans to improve the profitability
of its business over a three year period. Our
experience gained over the years in building
up the Sunlight business in the UK has enabled
us to support the Berendsen management in
realising these plans and to provide additional
impetus by focusing on the management
structure, the IT system and plant capacities.
My report on pages 6 and 7 details the
progress achieved to date.

Financial performance In 2001, Berendsen
reported turnover of DKK3.9 billion 
(£331 million at the 2002 exchange rate 
of DKK11.70: £1) which was 13% up on 
the previous year. Its operating profit before
goodwill amortisation and exceptional items
of DKK344 million (£29.4 million) grew by
4%. Net assets at 31st December 2001 were
approximately DKK3.5 billion (£303 million)
taking into account a committed return of
capital to shareholders.

As described in more detail on pages 
6 and 7, the performance of the business 
in 2002 has been excellent. Full year reported
turnover of DKK4.2 billion (£351.4 million)
was 6% up on 2001 and operating profit 
of DKK406 million (£34.3 million) was an
19.1% increase. The operating margin has
consequently increased from 8.7% in 2001
to 9.8% for the full year 2002.

Summary It is already clear that Berendsen 
is enhancing shareholder value by delivering
on all fronts and will continue to do so.
Trading in the year has been excellent,
margins have improved and opportunities 
to develop by acquisition have been taken.
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Operating review continued

Textile maintenance –
Sunlight (UK)
Spring Grove (Ireland & Germany)
Modeluxe (France)

Turnover for the year increased by 4.3% to
£248.9 million and operating profit by 8.2%
to £41.1 million pre goodwill amortisation
and exceptional items.

A market recovery within the Hotel
division, whilst slow in the early months 
of the year, saw volume levels reach similar
levels to the previous year by August and 
by December, monthly volumes were
comparable with those achieved in 2000.
This recovery, assisted by a turnover purchase
in the first quarter and supported by strong
operating disciplines, enabled the division 
to show a reasonable increase in profitability
over the previous year. Strong price
competition and increasing service and quality
expectations remain a key feature of the
sector and as a consequence these issues
and increased costs continue to put our
operating margin under pressure.

Good progress has been made during
the year in the Healthcare division, a strong
increase in sales being driven by new
contracts as the NHS trusts continued 
to consider and opt for the outsourcing
alternative. Our business has steadily built 
up a strong reputation for the supply of ward
linen services and sterile surgical procedure
packs and continues to be a beneficiary of
outsourcing. To support growth, a capital
investment programme has already been
initiated at our Leicester laundry. 

Hospitals (left)
Sunlight products are 
used both in operating
theatres and wards
throughout the UK.

Extensive coverage (below)
50 laundries cover the UK,
bringing Sunlight into
close contact with their
many customers.

Benjys (above and below) 
is part of the growing
trend to supply UK 
service industry customers.
Over 500 employees 
are supplied daily in 
this company.
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High quality 
customer service

Additionally, we have continued to invest in
our laundries in order to provide enhanced
infection control capabilities to meet our
customers’ growing expectations in this
important area.

The growth in healthcare volumes and
the need for additional processing flexibility
in our Hotel division has caused us to focus
on the means of increasing capacity for 
our linen services division. The purchase of
Society Linen Limited in the early months 
of the current year has given us the facilities
to address this long-term issue.

Within our Workwear division, the
economic pressures and an increasingly
competitive environment held sales at an
equivalent level to 2001. The result was
supported by a number of service initiatives
which significantly improved customer retention
and with tight cost control and productivity
improvements in processing and distribution,
margin levels were maintained in this sector.

Outside the UK turnover improved by
3.2% to £35.2 million. Operating profit was
marginally lower at £3.4 million, including 
a poor result from our French business.

Although turnover in France was much
in line with that achieved last year significant
fluctuations in volume, particularly in the

second half, put pressure on our operating
capability and costs. During the year we
completed our investment programme which
enabled us to integrate work into our factory
which was previously subcontracted out.

In our Irish business, a stronger sales
performance in the second half enabled 
it to progress well during the year and
produce a modest increase in operating
profit. The hotel sector recovery has been
slow, however, this was offset by growth
within the healthcare linen business. 
We have finalised the sale of our Dublin
plant and the transfer to our new facility 
will be completed by early Spring 2003.

In Germany, despite a difficult market
the business saw a small increase in sales
but operating profits weakened a little. 
With effect from the beginning of 2003 
this business has come under Berendsen’s
management.

Trading conditions within our markets
for the coming year are difficult to forecast
particularly in relation to the hotel sector
where the international uncertainty may
impact on the level of tourist activity and 
in the Workwear business where volumes
directly reflect the buoyancy or otherwise 
of the UK manufacturing sector. 
However, although these issues may restrict
our ability to grow we have a sound base
and are confident of our ability to meet 
the challenges.

Stanley Casinos (left)
250 chefs are now supplied
with their Workwear at 41
UK locations.

Developing new
techniques (right)
Sunlight has developed
washing Hi Viz protective
clothing – these meet
exacting Health and 
Safety requirements.



06 The Davis Service Group Plc
Report and accounts 2002
The Davis Service Group Plc
Report and accounts 2002

In our eight months of ownership turnover
was £245.8 million and the operating 
profit before goodwill amortisation and
exceptional items was £24.7 million. 
For the full year 2002 at constant exchange
rates the turnover was £351.4 million 
(2001: £331.0 million) and the operating profit,
pre goodwill amortisation and exceptional
items £34.3 million (2001: £28.8 million).

At the time of acquisition we indicated
that there were two key reasons for the
purchase, namely the scope for margin
improvement and the potential for future
development in Europe. The results for the
period, and the recent steps taken to expand
the business discussed below, fully support
this view.

Our post acquisition review indicated
three key areas of concern: the operating
management structure, the IT systems, 
and capacity. Substantial progress has 
been made in dealing with all these issues.
The change to management by country,
rather than centrally by Copenhagen, has
much simplified the decision making process
within the business. The review of the IT
systems supported the decision that the
Oracle based financial system should be
replaced by compatible locally driven systems.

International customers
(right) Flextronics is a
Berendsen customer in
Sweden, Denmark 
and Poland.

Operating review continued

Textile maintenance –
Berendsen

Unrivalled
European
coverage
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Implementation of this is well in hand. 
The capacity issue has been attacked with
some urgency, and 21 operating plants of
varying size were scheduled and actioned 
for closure in the year, all being closed by 
the end of January 2003. 

The trading performance of the business
has been excellent. This is best illustrated by
the fact that full year margins, pre goodwill
amortisation and exceptional items, have
moved from 8.7% to 10.1%. Much of this
improvement has been attributable to the
previously underperforming Scandinavian
businesses. As the year progressed all six
countries within which Berendsen operates
textile maintenance services saw growing
evidence of a slowdown in economic activity.
Nevertheless we recorded growth in all key
service sectors, except in linen rental to hotels
and restaurants where the compensatory factor
was margin improvement.

Local management initiatives provided 
a number of opportunities to expand the
business. Small acquisitions were made in
the Netherlands and Denmark, whilst in
Sweden we acquired two medium sized
businesses supplying garments and mats.
Our German healthcare business was able 
to purchase a small company close to 
the German border in the Lake Constanz
region of Austria. This gives us scope for
development on both sides of the border.

High quality customer
base (left) Over 600,000
people wear Berendsen
products each day in their
workplace – they demand
and receive high quality
standards.

Our people (right and
below) 10,000 staff are
employed throughout
Berendsen in eight
countries, stretching from
Kiviöli in Estonia to Arnhem
in the Netherlands.

Healthcare (far right)
Three laundries in
Germany have sterilisation
facilities, supporting
healthcare operations.

From the above it can be seen that the
business has been active on all fronts. 
Day-to-day trading has advanced well, 
the restructuring process has proceeded
quicker than expected, and we have taken
advantage of development opportunities.
While the coming year will hopefully see 
less upheaval, the process of change will be
ongoing and will, we expect, be accompanied
by further margin improvement.

Finally, our thanks are due to the
Berendsen staff at all levels. They have faced
a challenging year with enthusiasm and have
shown themselves willing to adapt to change
and take on responsibility.
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Operating review continued

Tool hire – 
HSS Hire Service Group 
HSS RentX (US)

Turnover increased by 4.8% to £182.1 million
(2001: £173.7 million) and operating profits
were £18.9 million pre goodwill amortisation
and exceptional items (2001: £26.4 million).
Within these results, our USA subsidiary HSS
RentX contributed a full years trading with a
turnover of £39.2 million (2001: £26.4 million)
and an operating loss of £2.8 million 
(2001: £0.7 million profit). 

In the UK, our turnover at £140.9 million
(2001: £145.9 million) fell by 3.4% and
operating profits at £21.7 million were
15.7% lower than the previous year. In
2001, HSS benefited from unprecedented
weather related income throughout the
major part of the first half and only saw
underlying business levels return to more
normal levels in the final quarter. In 2002,
the absence of significant weather related
income and a lower levels of underlying
business combined to hold back turnover
below levels of the previous year particularly
in the first half. Business levels began to
recover in the second half year and in the
final quarter were ahead of 2001 on a like
for like basis.

We continued to develop our branch
network, adding a further 18 outlets. 
The agency programme has now reached 
40 outlets and as a result HSS equipment

can be hired from 473 outlets throughout
the UK and Ireland. Over recent years we
have introduced a number of service
initiatives which both grow our business and
assist in expanding the general awareness 
of the HSS brand. One-Call, which sources
equipment for customers from other
providers, our Workshops, servicing
customer owned equipment, and Training,
which focuses on health and safety and
equipment use, are good examples of
initiatives which are all providing profitable
growth opportunities.

The Event Hire business did not
maintain the improvements reported in 
the first half as the economy tightened 
and the number of corporate events
declined, especially in the London area. 
As a consequence it contributed only a
modest profit in the full year.

Despite adverse economic conditions,
the seven branches in Germany increased
turnover by 33% to £2.0 million, aided by
flood related business in the autumn and 
an additional Berlin branch. This increase 
in turnover was sufficient to eliminate last
year’s operating loss and the business is now
operating at break-even. A programme to
grow the business by adding agency outlets
has been initiated and with four now
operating the early signs are encouraging.

Agencies (below)
HSS is combining with
local builders’ merchants
to cost-effectively extend
its geographical coverage
to customers.

Concerts at the Palace
(right) HSS supplied 
over 10,000 chairs and 
other equipment for the
memorable Jubilee concerts
in Buckingham Palace.
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Developing 
retail initiatives

In the US, HSS RentX sales were $58.9 million
compared with $38.1 million for 2001, including
the first full year of the RentX operation
acquired in July 2001. The operating loss
was $4.2 million (2001 profit $1.1 million).

The US economy remains depressed
and this continued to have a severe impact
on the US plant rental industry and on 
our business in particular as has our post
acquisition change programme. 
The programme is aimed at re-positioning
the business by focusing on smaller
equipment and at introducing HSS systems,
standards and procedures and it is now
substantially complete. Given this, we are
disappointed that we have not made better
progress, nevertheless we are undoubtedly
well placed to benefit from any upturn.

The likelihood is that the coming year
will see little improvement in economic
conditions on either side of the Atlantic. 
This being so, we would expect to make
modest progress in the UK, driven by
development initiatives and in the USA 
our efforts to bring the business into profit
will depend very much on the economy as 
a whole.

HSS Training Solutions (left)
HSS now offers courses 
to meet many accredited
standards, including 
reach truck vehicles: 
strong commitment to
improve customers health
and safety procedures.

HSS RentX (right)
Eight of the HSS RentX sites
are in San Diego, California –
the area has potential for
future expansion.

Customers (above)
The commitment of 
HSS to quality service 
is attracting a growing
retail customer base.
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Operating review continued

Building systems –
Elliott Group

Modular schools (right)
In three weeks Elliott
provided a complete
modular school of 32
classrooms as part of an
emergency project.

Education (above)
Elliott supplied services 
to over 200 schools in
2002. Experienced project
management is available
to all customers.

Benefiting 
from growth 
in Public Sector
contracts
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Our hire and rental businesses, now 
including Porterplant acquired in June 2002,
continued to prosper, producing a strong
performance. We now have over 31,000
accommodation units in the field and for 
the Porterplant business, 6,000 portable
toilets and around 40,000 fencing panels.
This substantial resource makes Elliotthire
and Porterplant market leaders in their
respective fields. In order to enhance brand
awareness, Porterplant now trades as Elliott
Loohire and another small cabin acquisition,
Contract Lifting Services, has been absorbed
into the existing Elliotthire network.

Operationally, utilisation levels have
remained consistently high and realistic pricing
levels have been maintained. This division
now operates from 12 area offices, one fewer
than last year due to the amalgamation 
of Dartford and Purfleet into Thurrock. 
The Thurrock depot, completed in July at a
cost of £1 million, now controls over 5,000
units and is by far our largest location. 
Given the businesses’ prospects, we have
plans in place to further expand the network
and to continue to develop customer friendly
systems support, a key feature in differentiating
our offering to our customers.

In 2003 we expect our hire and rental
activities to continue to expand, and in
manufacturing we face the challenge of
striving to improve output to levels necessary
to meet a strong and growing order book
for our sold product.

J C Ivey Chief Executive

Elliott’s turnover increased by 13.5% to
£140.1 million (2001: £123.5 million).
Operating profit before goodwill
amortisation and exceptional costs at 
£17.6 million increased by 9.9% 
(2001: £16.0 million). While our hire business
was strong throughout the year, our direct
sales business, following a subdued start to
the year, had a stronger second half. 

Our direct sales activities had a
challenging but nevertheless successful year
supported strongly by our more specialist
products and services. A quiet start to the
period was exacerbated by the slow-down 
in order intake from the telecoms markets.
To counter this, we reduced manning and
overhead levels only to find a substantial
improvement in demand from the summer
period onwards. This improvement came 
as our investment in sales resources delivered
increased business in the general industry
sector as well as the public sector, where
sales in health and education have remained
buoyant. Our ongoing sales structure in this
part of our business is now geared to provide
us with a wide range of opportunities which
will, in the short term, continue to place
pressure on our manufacturing and technical
resources as they adjust to the practical
demands of a wider product mix.

Hospitals and medical
centres (left and below)
The growth in public
sector expenditure 
has provided many
opportunities, where our
products can economically
extend and improve the
facilities of a hospital.
Elliott also supply specialist
accommodation such as
day surgeries and walk 
in medical centres.

Porterplant (below)
The recent acquisition 
of Porterplant adds a 
further extension to the
Elliott product line-up.

Specialist products (left)
High quality windows
supplied to a long
established school.
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Financial review
Roger Dye 

The financial review should be read in
conjunction with the Chairman’s statement
and Chief Executive’s operating review 
set out on pages 2 to 11 which contain
comments on turnover, profit, earnings 
and dividends.

Basis of presentation Due to the bonus
element within the Rights Issue subscribed 
in April 2002, it has been necessary for
comparative purposes to restate the earnings
per share and dividends per share disclosures
for 2001. In respect of FRS17 Retirement
Benefits, the board has continued to use 
the transitional approach and has provided
in note 8 additional disclosures in respect of
the group’s defined benefits pension schemes.

Exceptional items and goodwill
amortisation The exceptional items are
listed in note 4 on page 32. Charges of 
£4.3 million total from the Berendsen
division and relate to the closure of laundries
within Scandinavia and the downsizing 
of the corporate office in Copenhagen. 
The £7.0 million profit from property sales
relates largely to the transfer of operations
within Dublin and the exceptional finance
costs of £0.7 million relate to fees incurred 
as part of the overall group refinancing.

To comply with FRS11 Impairment of
fixed assets and goodwill, an impairment
review has been carried out in respect of 
the HSS RentX business. This was necessary
due to the poor market conditions in the
USA throughout 2002 and our consequent
results. Based on the projected cash flows
and using pre tax discount rates as high as
12%, no impairment to the existing goodwill
level is recorded and, as a consequence, 
the goodwill continues to be amortised 
over 20 years.

Capital expenditure table £m

Hire and rental inventory 112.2 81.9

Plant, machinery 
and vechicles 29.0 16.6

Land and buildings 10.2 11.7

Total 151.4 110.2

 2002 2001

Debt by maturity  £m % 

Within 1 year 58.9 14.0

Within 1-2 years  41.7 9.9

Within 2-5 years 321.2 76.1

Over 5 years 0.2 –

 422.0 100.0

Debt by currency  £m %

Sterling 78.8 18.7
Dollar  42.7 10.1
Euro 4.3 1.0
Danish Krone 295.3 70.0
Other 0.9 0.2
 422.0 100.0

Gearing %

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

31

37

34

39

91

Shareholders’ funds £000

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

174,512

196,308

219,783

245,927

424,675

Dividend cover times

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

2.2

2.2

2.12

2.14

2.05
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Full disclosure in respect of FRS17 Retirement
Benefits is listed in note 8 on pages 34 to
36. As at 31st December 2002, there was an
unprovided pension deficit, net of deferred
tax, of £28.7 million (2001: £12.3 million).
Had the group adopted FRS17, this charge
would have reduced group reserves to
£396.0 million.

Treasury policy The group holds or issues
financial instruments to finance its operations
and to manage the interest rate and currency
risks arising from those operations and
sources of finance.

The group’s strategy regarding financial
instruments and managing the risks
associated therewith is summarised below.

Financing The group finances its operations
through a mixture of short and medium-
term debt and cash generated through its
operations. In planning the maturity of debt,
the group’s policy is to ensure a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility.

Short-term borrowings predominantly
comprise overdraft facilities with United
Kingdom clearing banks, a short-term dollar
facility in the United States and existing
facilities within the Berendsen group. 
The group’s UK current accounts with those
banks are subject to set-off arrangements
covered by cross-guarantees. Where surplus
funds arise on a short-term basis, they are
placed on money market deposit with 
those banks. Accounts within the Berendsen
business have continued to be co-ordinated
through the Copenhagen office. Surplus funds
of a permanent nature such as those arising
from significant disposals, have historically
been used to prepay medium-term bank debt
or to finance the cost of businesses acquired.

The group has traditionally raised
medium term debt via bank facilities and
finance leasing arrangements. Given the 
size of the debt required to part-finance the
Berendsen acquisition and the refinancing 
of the group, a syndicated loan facility for
five years was agreed with fourteen banks.
Leasing facilities are utilised where appropriate
to finance certain categories of assets.

All the group’s borrowings are unsecured.

Interest The net interest charge for the year
was £17.2 million compared to £6.0 million
in 2001. This significant increase arises 
from the Berendsen acquisition. The average
cost of funding, net of cash balances, 
was 6.0%. Interest cover was 5.7 times
operating profit before exceptional items
and goodwill amortisation.

Cash flow The detailed cash flow is set 
out on page 27. The group cash flow 
from operations was £199.9 million 
(2001: £157.9 million). The free cash flow
was £35.9 million (2001: £34.0 million),
despite paying out £4.3 million for legacy
and exceptional charges in respect 
of Berendsen.

Capital expenditure Capital expenditure 
for the year was £114 million for the existing
business and £37 million for Berendsen
compared with £110 million in 2001. 
Our businesses continue to be predominantly
of a hire or rental nature. The inventory to
service these activities is an integral part of
the business and requires regular replacement
in addition to expansion and enhancement.

Borrowings and gearing Net borrowings 
at the year end was £383.6 million 
(2001: £97.1 million). The resulting gearing
is 91% compared to 39% at 31st December
2001 and 95% at 30th June 2002. 
The analysis of the £422.0 million debt by
currency and by maturity is shown in the
table on the previous page.

Pensions Actuaries to the group’s defined
benefits pension schemes in the UK,
Sweden and Germany continue to advise
the Trustees and the group on the required
funding rates. In total, the group has
charged £9.3 million, of which £3.9 million
related to Berendsen, for the year in respect
of all pension arrangements for staff in order
to enable the respective pension funds to
fulfil their obligations.

Interest rates The interest rate exposure of the
group arising from its bank loan borrowings
has been managed by the use of interest
rate instruments. During the year, the group
has taken out new hedging instruments
comprising swaps in respect of DK1.7 billion
of its medium-term debt in order to obtain 
a level of protection against projected future
interest rate increases. These are in addition
to existing instruments totalling £30 million
and $50 million. The group’s policy is not 
to use derivatives for trading purposes.
Transactions are only undertaken if they
relate to underlying exposures and cannot 
be viewed as speculative.

Currency rates The group faces currency
exposure on trading transactions undertaken
by its subsidiaries in currencies other than 
their functional currencies. The structure of
the group and the nature of its operations 
are such that any risk arising is not material.
Where any transactions exposure is significant
in the context of the trading company
concerned, a forward foreign exchange
contract may be entered into by that company;
this would be dependent upon the certainty
of the exposure as to timing and amount 
and the exchange rate at the relevant time.
There were no such trading contracts
outstanding at the year end.

It continues to be the group’s policy 
not to hedge foreign currency exposures 
on the translation of its overseas profits 
to sterling. Where appropriate, borrowings
are arranged in local currencies to provide 
a natural hedge against overseas net assets.

Going concern After reviewing the group’s
budgeted cash flows and having made
appropriate enquiries, the directors have 
a reasonable expectation that the company
and the group have adequate resources 
to continue in operation for the foreseeable
future. For this reason, the directors continue
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.

I R Dye Finance Director



Neil W Benson 65, Chairman Non-executive*†‡Ø
Senior partner – Lewis Golden & Co, Chartered Accountants

John C Ivey 61, Chief Executive‡
Joined the group in 1973
Non-executive director – Derwent Valley Holdings PLC (Chairman)

I Roger Dye 51, Finance Director
Joined the group in 2000

Lister A Fielding 59
Managing director – HSS Hire Service Group PLC since 1989

Paul E Smeeth 57
Managing director – Elliott Group Limited since 1989 having joined the company in 1968

John D Burns 58, Non-executive*‡
Managing director – Derwent Valley Holdings PLC
Consultant partner – Pilcher Hershman & Partners, Estate Agents

John A Franks 74, Deputy Chairman Non-executive†‡Ø
Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
Consultant – William Sturges & Co, Solicitors

Christopher R M Kemball 56, Non-executive*†Ø
Vice chairman – Hawkpoint Partners Limited
Non-executive director – WS Atkins plc, Control Risks Group Limited

Board committees
* Audit committee The audit committee meets with internal and external auditors as necessary, as well as management, to 
review matters of internal control and reviews the full-year financial statements prior to their issue. The committee consists solely 
of non-executive directors and is chaired by C R M Kemball.

† Remuneration committee The remuneration committee sets the policy on executive directors’ remuneration and the specific
remuneration, benefits and terms of employment of each executive director. The committee consists solely of non-executive directors 
and is chaired by C R M Kemball.

‡ Nomination committee The committee will make recommendations to the board on additional and replacement directors as and 
when the need arises: it is chaired by N W Benson.

Ø Independent directors The directors thus identified are considered by the board to be independent: of these, J A Franks has been
nominated as the senior independent director. From the annual general meeting C R M Kemball will assume this responsibility.

Board of directors
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The Combined Code issued by the Committee on Corporate Governance (‘the Code’) contains both principles and detailed provisions.
The ways in which the company applies the relevant corporate governance principles are described in the appropriate parts of this annual
report. Those principles which relate to board matters, internal control and relations with shareholders are set out on this page whilst
directors’ remuneration is dealt with in the remuneration report on pages 16 to 19. A statement of the company’s compliance with the
Code provisions is given at the foot of this page.

Board of directors The board comprises four executive and four non-executive directors (including the chairman who is responsible for
running the board). Three of the four non-executive directors (identified on page 14) provide a strong independent element on the board
being free from any business or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their judgement. John Franks is
currently the senior independent director and, from the annual general meeting, Christopher Kemball will assume this responsibility.

The board, which routinely meets six times a year, with additional meetings being called as and when required, carries the ultimate
responsibility for the conduct of Davis Service Group business. Prior to each board meeting an agenda, together with supporting papers,
is circulated to directors to ensure they are supplied, in timely fashion, with all the information they need. Included with these papers are
detailed monthly accounts, together with appropriate financial analyses. The monthly accounts and financial analyses are also circulated in
those months in which no routine board meeting is held.

The three principal committees of the board are the remuneration committee, the audit committee and the nomination committee.
The terms of reference of these committees are set by the board. The membership of these committees, details of which are set out on
page 14, is composed of non-executive directors with the exception of the nomination committee on which John Ivey serves. Roger Dye
attends the audit committee meetings by invitation. Minutes of all committee meetings are circulated to and reviewed by the board.
Trading companies are managed by separate country boards of directors. John Ivey and Roger Dye are directors of all UK trading
subsidiaries, regularly attending board meetings, and either attends the majority of Berendsen country board meetings. Roger Dye attends
board meetings of HSS RentX.

The schedule of matters reserved for the board’s decision includes the approval of financial statements, acquisitions, disposals, the
annual budget, major capital expenditure and significant financing matters.

All directors have the right to seek external professional advice in the furtherance of their duties at the expense of the company and
have unfettered access to the advice and services of the company secretary.

Internal control The board has ultimate responsibility for the group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.
However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate those risks associated with the achievement of business objectives,
and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Combined Code includes a requirement that the directors review, at least annually, the effectiveness of the group’s system of
internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management.

During the year under review and up to the date of this report, the board had in place effective procedures consistent with the
‘Turnbull’ Guidance and has ratified management’s assessments of the principal risks to the group. Appropriate management procedures
have been in place to control these risks. In respect of the Sophus Berendsen business, enquiries prior to and our subsequent
management of the division following the acquisition have led us to the view that in general management procedures are operating
satisfactorily. Full compliance with the ‘Turnbull’ Guidelines will be achieved during 2003. The control environment at HSS RentX has
improved during the year and management procedures are now operating in a much more satisfactory manner.

The board has placed emphasis on ensuring that a balanced risk culture exists in its divisions rather than solely conducting periodic
reviews. This culture is demonstrated by an open style of communication which enables issues to be identified and corrective actions put
in place. Appropriate reporting and follow-up procedures ensure that the impact of these identified risks is minimised.

Senior divisional management report formally to the board at the end of each financial year on their assessment of internal control and
the audit committee has reviewed these reports.

For matters of internal financial control, the directors’ responsibilities in respect of the accounting records, the safeguarding of assets and the
prevention of fraud and other irregularities are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements on page 22.

Report on directors’ remuneration The report on directors’ remuneration is set out on pages 16 to 19.

Shareholder relations John Ivey and Roger Dye regularly meet with institutional shareholders and analysts. All investors have the
opportunity to meet the directors at the annual general meeting.

It is the company’s practice to propose separate resolutions at the annual general meeting on each separate issue. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting the level of proxies lodged together with the balance for and against each resolution will be announced after it
has been dealt with on a show of hands (unless a poll is called for). Copies of the details of the proxy voting will be available to
shareholders after the meeting on receipt of a written request addressed to the company secretary at the registered office.

Pension funds A number of pension plans operate within the group. The principal UK scheme is The Davis Service Group Retirement
Benefits Scheme. This scheme has five trustees – Roger Dye, one member of management (who is not a director of the company) 
and three member nominated individuals, one of whom is now a pensioner. The power of appointment of new trustees is vested in 
the trustees.

The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the group and are independently managed. The scheme may not invest in
the shares of The Davis Service Group Plc. The scheme’s accounts are audited annually by auditors other than those of The Davis Service
Group Plc.

Outside the UK, the majority of the pension plans are of a defined contribution nature, some of which are integrated into government
schemes and managed outside the group.

Compliance Throughout the year ended 31st December 2002 the company has, with the exception of one matter, been in compliance
with the Code provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code. The one exception is that, as noted on page 16, for the year ended
31st December 2002 the company paid two executive directors basic salaries based on external advice and did not pay contractual
bonuses in addition to these salaries.

Corporate governance statement
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The remuneration and benefits of the executive directors of the company are determined by the remuneration committee whose
members are Christopher Kemball (chairman), Neil Benson and John Franks, all non-executive directors. The chief executive may be
invited to attend meetings but may not take part in any discussion on matters concerning himself.

The terms of reference of the committee are to determine the company’s policy on executive directors’ remuneration and to consider
and approve the individual salaries and other terms of the remuneration packages for the executive directors.

Remuneration policy The committee’s policy is to pay competitive salaries having regard to the director’s experience, the size and
complexity of the job and any material special factors which may arise from time to time. The committee also makes reference to
independent and authoritative surveys where appropriate. The company has given full consideration to the principles of, and has
complied with, the provisions of the Combined Code on directors’ remuneration.

Remuneration packages The remuneration package for executive directors comprises short-term and longer term benefits and share
options. The committee takes annual independent advice from consultants Deloitte & Touche to ensure the appropriateness of the
packages being offered.

Short-term benefits comprise annual salary, provision of a company car, life assurance, medical expenses insurance and annual
performance related bonuses.

Executive directors’ salaries Salaries for executive directors were reviewed within the consultants’ overall remit and the following
salaries were effective from 1st January 2003: John Ivey £435,000; Roger Dye £255,000; Lister Fielding £250,000 and Paul Smeeth
£215,000.

Short-term performance bonuses In the cases of Lister Fielding and Paul Smeeth, who have direct divisional responsibilities, bonuses
will continue to be paid on the basis of achievement of targeted divisional profit. The maximum bonus payable has been capped at 
25% of base salary, payable in cash, based on achievement of targeted levels of profit growth. In the past the board believed it
inappropriate to pay contractual cash bonuses to its chief executive and finance director, thereby ensuring that decisions are taken not 
for personal gain but in the exclusive interests of the group and its shareholders. This has continued to be the case in 2002, but for 2003
onwards the chief executive and finance director (and certain other group executives) are to be incentivised to achieve above target
performance from the Sophus Berendsen business. The incentive scheme, which is self-financing and provides for a cash bonus of not
less than the annual salary of the participants. In the case of the chief executive and the finance director, their entitlement will be subject
to additional triggers which are broadly based on the earnings performance measure, as defined in the LTIP described below, and on
meeting targets on operating margins, development objectives and cash management.

The company will pay a contractual bonus of £43,000 to Paul Smeeth for 2002 divisional performance and made a payment of
£35,000 to Roger Dye on account of his lengthy periods outside the UK.

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) The LTIP for the executive directors and a small group of senior management was approved by the
annual general meeting on 3rd May 2002. The objectives of the LTIP are:

• to deliver enhanced earnings to shareholders

• to reward senior executives progressively in a way which supports and strengthens long-term motivation and commitment

• to assist in the retention of key executives

Key features of the LTIP are:

• a maximum annual award of 75% of annual base salary for all executive directors payable in shares

• deferred vesting of 40% of each award up to two years, the subsequent awards dependent on achievement of performance targets in
subsequent years

• shares for awards will be bought in the market

Performance measures are:

• the company’s earnings per share (adjusted to exclude exceptional items and goodwill amortisation) to rise in each relevant year in
excess of the UK Retail Prices Index plus three percent. Awards may vest if this increase is achieved and no awards will vest if it is 
not achieved.

• annual performance requirements set for each individual participant by the committee. These requirements will include:
– group profitability
– divisional profitability
– sales growth
– cash generation
– divisional development

The committee believes that, by having individual target requirements defined and allied with a group earnings target above RPI, the
alignment of senior management’s interests with those of shareholders is most effectively ensured. However, no awards will be made
under the plan in respect of 2002 as earnings per share failed to reach the benchmark level. The plan will continue to be part of the
remuneration package with effect from 1st January 2003. In its discretion the committee made cash awards to the Elliott Group
Management (including Paul Smeeth who received £146,000) in recognition of the fact that the Elliott Group’s performance was in 
line with the LTIP targets envisaged for that division in 2002.

Report on directors’ remuneration 
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Other share option schemes Discretionary grants of share options are the principal form of long-term incentive for other managers
throughout the group. The share option scheme is controlled by the remuneration committee, which considers it to be an important
component in the overall executive remuneration package.

Options are granted on a phased basis under the rules of the Davis 1998 Share Option Scheme which, amongst other conditions,
incorporates rules concerning performance attaching to the right to exercise the options that have been granted. These performance
rules require the group’s adjusted earnings per share growth over a three year period to exceed the growth in the UK Retail Prices Index
by an average of at least 3% per annum. The exercise prices of options granted are not set at a discount to the market value of the
company’s shares at date of grant.

All employees, including executive directors, are eligible to participate in the group’s sharesave scheme.

Retirement benefits Executive directors other than Roger Dye are members of the group’s main contributory pension scheme which
provides for members’ contributions at the rate of 5% of pensionable salary. Subject to Inland Revenue limits, they are eligible for a
pension of up to two-thirds of pensionable salary at normal
retirement age of 60. The pension scheme also provides for
payments on death. Employer’s contributions are being paid to the
pension scheme in respect of the company’s executive directors and
other senior executives within the group, at an appropriate rate of
pensionable salary. Further details of the pension scheme are set
out in note 8 on pages 34 to 36.

Roger Dye has a personal pension arrangement to which the
company made payments equivalent to 221⁄2% of salary. 
From 2003, this contribution rate will increase to 30% of salary. 
Life assurance cover of four times salary and permanent health
insurance up to 75% are also provided.

Total shareholder return We are required to present a five year
graph comparing the Total Shareholder Return (TSR) of the company
with a relevant index or group of companies. Due to the size of the
company, and its mix of activities, the committee believes that the
FTSE 350 Support Services Index is the most suitable index to use.
The adjacent chart shows the TSR of the company compared to that
index over the period 1998 to 2002.

Directors’ service agreements All executive directors have a twelve month rolling service agreement which is terminable on one year’s
notice by either party, except in the case of change of control of the company when it will automatically extend to two years’ notice by
the company. 

Non-executive directors The non-executive directors receive fees at a level approved by the entire board and are able to claim
reimbursement of actual expenditure incurred in carrying out their duties. Most have use of a motor car but do not receive fuel benefit
and none are entitled to participate in the company’s pension scheme and share schemes. The terms of office of non-executive directors
are for periods not exceeding three years subject to shareholders’ discretion when seeking re-election at annual general meetings.

No director has contracted rights for compensation on early termination other than that quoted above.
The current limit on non-executive directors’ fees has not changed for many years. As non-executive directors’ responsibilities have

significantly increased in recent years, it is proposed to increase the individual limit from £40,000 to £50,000.

Directors’ remuneration
(a) Aggregate disclosures 2002 2001

£000 £000

Salaries, fees and benefits 1,494 1,295
Payments for individual pension arrangements 55 57
Deemed gains made on exercise of share options – 14
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(b) Analysis of directors’ remuneration 2002 2001

Salary/fees Bonuses Benefits Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current executive directors
J C Ivey 393 – 20 413 395
I R Dye 231 35 16 282 258
L A Fielding 247 – 18 265 277
P E Smeeth 194 189 17 400 245
Non-executive directors
N W Benson 32 – 11 43 41
J D Burns 23 – 3 26 24
J A Franks 26 – 14 40 33
C R M Kemball 25 – – 25 22

1,171 224 99 1,494 1,295

George Boyle retired from the board on 1st September 2000 and was retained as a consultant until 31st August 2002 at a fee of
£190,000 p.a, together with the provision of a company car and an accrued pension (until 30th September 2002). The fees paid during
the year were £126,667 plus benefits £10,479 (2001: £190,000 plus benefits £18,000) and are not included in the above figures.
(c) Directors’ pension arrangements Defined benefit scheme

Transfer Transfer Transfer Increase in Increase in Accrued Accrued
value at value at value of transfer accrued entitlement at entitlement at

31st December 31st December increase net value over pension during 31st December 1st January
2002 2001 of inflation the year the year 2002 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current executive directors
J C Ivey 5,943 5,150 362 773 26 233 207
I R Dye – – – – – – –
L A Fielding 1,772 1,243 114 516 8 72 64
P E Smeeth 1,151 770 76 371 6 49 43

(i) The accrued entitlement shown above for each director is that which would be paid at normal retirement date based on service to 
31st December 2002.
(ii) The increase in transfer values over the year are net of member contributions paid in the year.
(iii) Transfer values do not represent sums payable to the executive directors by the company.
(iv) The increase in transfer values incorporates the change of basis introduced during the year.
(v) Payments were made to Roger Dye in respect of his personal pension arrangements of £55,000 (2001: £53,000). Payments in excess
of the Inland Revenue cap are treated as a taxable emolument.
(vi) The increase in accrued pension net of inflation for 2002 for the current executive directors were; J C Ivey (£20,000), L A Fielding
(£7,000) and P E Smeeth (£5,000).

Directors’ interests
(a) Total interests The interests of the current directors and their families in the issued shares of the company and rights under the share
option and sharesave schemes on the dates set out below were as follows:

31st December 2002 31st December 2001

Ordinary Share Sharesave Ordinary Share Sharesave
shares options scheme shares options scheme

N W Benson 89,054 – – 62,862 – –
J C Ivey 1,180,836 176,014 7,506 1,008,172 150,197 5,224
I R Dye 39,166 52,735 6,416 10,000 45,000 –
L A Fielding 15,821 246,813 4,805 11,168 210,610 4,101
P E Smeeth 149,006 123,049 7,575 127,219 105,000 4,101
J D Burns 89,894 – – 63,455 – –
J A Franks 53,831 – – 37,999 – –
C R M Kemball 14,166 – – 10,000 – –

No changes have occurred in the above between 1st January and 26th February 2003.

Report on directors’ remuneration continued
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(b) Share options Closing

During
mid-market

1st 31st price at
January Rights the year December Exercise date of

2002 issue 2002 price exercise
Number adjustment Exercised Granted Lapsed Number Pence Pence Exercise period

Share option 
schemes
J C Ivey 60,197 10,347 – – – 70,544 191.25 Apr 1997 – Apr 2004

45,000 7,735 – – – 52,735 340.04 Jun 2002 – Jun 2008
45,000 7,735 – – – 52,735 367.77 Apr 2002 – Apr 2009

I R Dye 45,000 7,735 – – – 52,735 245.32 Sep 2003 – Sep 2010

L A Fielding 52,805 9,077 – – – 61,882 191.25 Apr 1997 – Apr 2004
52,805 9,077 – – – 61,882 207.65 Apr 1999 – Apr 2006
30,000 5,157 – – – 35,157 340.04 Jun 2002 – Jun 2008
30,000 5,157 – – – 35,157 367.77 Apr 2002 – Apr 2009
45,000 7,735 – – – 52,735 251.29 Mar 2003 – Mar 2010

P E Smeeth 30,000 5,157 – – – 35,157 340.04 Jun 2002 – Jun 2008
30,000 5,157 – – – 35,157 367.77 Apr 2002 – Apr 2009
45,000 7,735 – – – 52,735 251.29 Mar 2003 – Mar 2010

Sharesave scheme
J C Ivey 2,490 428 – – – 2,918 236.36 Dec 2003 – May 2004

2,734 469 – – – 3,203 202.23 Dec 2005 – May 2006
– – – 1,385 – 1,385 256.00 Dec 2007 – May 2008

I R Dye – – – 6,416 – 6,416 256.00 Dec 2007 – May 2008

L A Fielding 4,101 704 – – – 4,805 202.23 Dec 2005 – May 2006

P E Smeeth 4,101 704 – – – 4,805 202.23 Dec 2005 – May 2006
– – – 2,720 – 2,720 256.00 Dec 2007 – May 2008

(c) Deemed gains on exercise of share options 2002 2001
£000 £000

L A Fielding – 7
P E Smeeth – 7

– 14

Notes
(i) Options were granted under the Sharesave Scheme at 14th October 2002.
(ii) No options lapsed in this period.
(iii) No options were exercised in the period.
(iv) The closing mid-market price of the ordinary shares at 31st December 2002 was 268.5 pence and during the year ranged from
266 pence to 510 pence.

By order of the board

M C Hoskin Secretary
27th February 2003
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The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2002.

Financial results The financial results for the year are set out on page 24. The profit for the year before tax was £71.2 million which
compares with £68.7 million for the previous year. After taxation, the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders is £47.3 million 
(2001: £48.9 million). Ordinary dividends paid and proposed amount to £29.8 million (2001: £23.3 million).

Financial review The principal activities and a review of the results and future prospects are dealt with in the Chairman’s statement, 
the Chief executive’s review and the financial review on pages 2 to 13.

Dividends The directors recommend a final dividend of 10.1 pence per share to be paid on 29th April 2003 to shareholders on the 
register at 11th April 2003 which, together with the dividend of 4.75 pence paid in October 2002, makes a total dividend for the year 
of 14.85 pence (2001: 14.12 pence restated for the 2002 Rights Issue).

Directors The current directors of the company are set out on page 14; each served throughout the year ended 31st December 2002. 
John Ivey and John Burns retire by rotation at the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. John Ivey

has a service agreement with the company which is terminable by either party giving to the other not less than one year’s notice in
writing. As a non-executive director, John Burns does not have a service agreement with the company. 

The interests of the current directors, together with those of their families, in the shares of the company, are included in the report on
directors’ remuneration which is set out on pages 16 to 19.

Share capital Details of the movements in the year are set out in note 21.

Substantial shareholdings As at 20th February 2003 the following shareholders had notified interests in the company’s ordinary 
share capital:

Material interests in 3% or more: %

Legal & General Investment Management 3.4

Prudential plc 4.9

Entire interests in 10% or more: %

Silchester International Investors Limited 14.5

Changes in composition of the group The group acquired the whole of the issued share capital of Sophus Berendsen A/S during the
period April to June 2002. This transaction has been accounted for as an acquisition in accordance with FRS6. Details of the fair value of
net assets acquired and consideration paid are set out in note 29 to the financial statements. 

Share capital In connection with the acquisition of Sophus Berendsen A/S, the company sought approval for and then issued 58.71 million
new ordinary shares raising £147.6 million, net of expenses. As in previous years, resolutions will be proposed at the annual general meeting
to authorise the directors to allot shares up to approximately one-third of the company’s issued share capital, of which up to approximately
5% may be issued for cash. The two resolutions (numbers 6 and 8) are set out in full in the Notice of Meeting on page 52. No issue will be
made which would effectively alter the control of the company without the prior approval of shareholders in general meeting. The directors
have no present intention of exercising this authority.

Purchase of own shares In certain circumstances it may be advantageous for the company to purchase its own shares. A special
resolution will be proposed at the annual general meeting to seek authority from shareholders to do so, such authority to expire on 
the date of the next following annual general meeting or a date 18 months from the date of the resolution, whichever is the earlier. 
The directors intend to exercise this power only if and when, in the light of market conditions prevailing at the time, they believe that the
effect of such purchases will be in the best interests of shareholders generally. Other investment opportunities, appropriate gearing levels
and the overall position of the company will be taken into account before deciding upon this course of action. The resolution specifies
the maximum number of shares which may be acquired (being 10% of the company’s issued share capital) and the maximum and
minimum prices at which they may be purchased. The shareholders’ authority granted at the 2002 annual general meeting remains 
valid until the next annual general meeting: no purchases have been made or are proposed to be made under that authority.

Directors’ report
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Political and charitable donations Charitable donations during the year amounted to £12,000 (2001: £10,000). There were no
political donations.

Environment, health and safety It is group policy to operate in a responsible manner with regard to the environment in all its
operations, minimising wherever possible any adverse impact through positive management action. This policy is pursued throughout 
the group and, as a minimum, requires compliance with existing environmental legislation and regulation in each country of operation.

The group recognises that it is a major responsibility of management to maintain healthy and safe working conditions for all its
employees. Subsidiaries are required to take all necessary steps to maintain standards and procedures which discharge the duties laid
down by the regulatory framework in each company’s country of operation.

Employees It is the group’s policy not to discriminate between employees or potential employees on any grounds: promotion and
development is based on each individual’s aptitude, abilities and skills. In the event of employees becoming disabled, every effort is 
made to ensure that their employment with the group continues and that appropriate training is arranged.

Creditor payment policy It is the group’s policy to agree the terms of payment with each of its suppliers at the commencement of 
the trading relationship and to abide by those terms provided that the supplier has performed in accordance with the relevant terms 
and conditions. Trade creditor days of the company for the year ended 31st December 2002 were 11 days and for the group’s major
United Kingdom trading companies were 53 days.

Auditors Following the conversion of PricewaterhouseCoopers to a limited liability partnership from 1 January 2003,
PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned on 29th January 2003 and the directors appointed its successor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as
auditors. A resolution to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the company will be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting on 25th April 2003.

By order of the board

M C Hoskin Secretary
27th February 2003
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The directors are required by the Companies Act 1985 to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and the group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss for the financial year.

The financial statements on pages 24 to 49 have been prepared on a going concern basis, suitable accounting policies have been used 
and applied consistently, reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates have been made and applicable accounting standards have 
been followed.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the company keeps accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the company and which enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.

The directors have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

By order of the board

M C Hoskin Secretary
27th February 2003

Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
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We have audited the financial statements which comprise the consolidated profit and loss account, the statement of consolidated total
recognised gains and losses, the note of consolidated historical cost profits and losses, the balance sheets, the consolidated cash flow
statement, the statement of accounting policies and the related notes. We have also audited the disclosures required by Part 3 of
Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985 contained in the report on directors’ remuneration (‘the auditable part’). 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards are set out in the statement of
directors’ responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the auditable part of the report on directors’ remuneration in accordance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and United Kingdom Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. This report,
including the opinion has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose
or to any other person to whom this report is shown or in to whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent
in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements
and the auditable part of the report on directors’ remuneration have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the company has 
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements. The other information comprises only the Chairman’s
statement, the Chief Executive’s operating review, the financial review, the corporate governance statement, the report on directors’
remuneration, the directors’ report and the five year record. 

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the company’s compliance with the seven provisions of the Combined
Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and we report if it does not. We are not required to
consider whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s or group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

Basis of audit opinion We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the auditable
part of the report on directors’ remuneration. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order 
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the auditable part of the report 
on directors’ remuneration are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the auditable part 
of the report on directors’ remuneration.

Opinion In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and the group at 31 December 2002 and of the
profit and cash flows of the group for the year then ended;

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

• those parts of the report on directors’ remuneration required by Part 3 of Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985 have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
27th February 2003

Independent auditors’ report
To the members of The Davis Service Group Plc
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2002 2001 

Before Before
goodwill Goodwill goodwill Goodwill

amortisation amortisation amortisation amortisation
and and and and

exceptional exceptional exceptional exceptional
items items Total items items Total

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Turnover
Continuing operations 566,015 – 566,015 535,918 – 535,918
Acquisitions 250,947 – 250,947 – – –

2 816,962 – 816,962 535,918 – 535,918

Cost of sales 3 (398,526) – (398,526) (248,773) – (248,773)

Gross profit 418,436 – 418,436 287,145 – 287,145
Other operating expenses 3 (323,833) (16,732) (340,565) (212,226) (2,778) (215,004)
Other operating income 3 4,207 – 4,207 1,713 – 1,713

Operating profit

Continuing operations
Before goodwill amortisation 
and exceptional operating costs
Continuing 73,205 – 73,205 76,632 – 76,632
Acquisitions 25,605 – 25,605 – – –

98,810 – 98,810 76,632 – 76,632
Goodwill amortisation – (12,450) (12,450) – (2,778) (2,778)
Exceptional operating costs 4 – (4,282) (4,282) – – –

98,810 (16,732) 82,078 76,632 (2,778) 73,854

Total operating profit 2 98,810 (16,732) 82,078 76,632 (2,778) 73,854
Profit on sale of 
properties in continuing operations 4 – 6,988 6,988 – 820 820

Profit on ordinary activities before interest 98,810 (9,744) 89,066 76,632 (1,958) 74,674
Interest receivable 1,700 – 1,700 806 – 806
Exceptional finance costs 4 – (655) (655) – – –
Interest payable 5 (18,890) – (18,890) (6,799) – (6,799)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 81,620 (10,399) 71,221 70,639 (1,958) 68,681
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 10 (24,065) 362 (23,703) (20,775) 995 (19,780)

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 57,555 (10,037) 47,518 49,864 (963) 48,901
Minority interests (270) – (270) – – –

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 57,285 (10,037) 47,248 49,864 (963) 48,901

Dividends paid and proposed 11 (29,750) (23,281)

Retained profit for the year 23 17,498 25,620

pence
pence (restated)

Basic earnings per share 12 25.07 29.73
Diluted earnings per share 12 24.67 29.49
Adjusted earnings per share 12 30.40 30.32

Consolidated profit and loss account
For the year ended 31st December 2002
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2002 2001
£000 £000

Profit for the year 47,248 48,901
Currency translation differences on net investment in overseas subsidiaries and tax effects 10,094 (567)
Tax effect of foreign exchange losses 3,568 –

Total recognised gains and losses recognised since last Annual Report 60,910 48,334

Note of consolidated historical cost profits and losses
For the year ended 31st December 2002

2002 2001
£000 £000

Reported profit on ordinary activities before taxation 71,221 68,681
Realisation of property revaluation gains of previous years – 113
Difference between an historical cost depreciation charge and the actual depreciation charge 
for the year calculated on the revalued amount 10 11

Historical cost profit on ordinary activities before taxation 71,231 68,805

Historical cost profit for the year retained after taxation, minority interests and dividends 17,508 25,744

Statement of consolidated total recognised gains and losses
For the year ended 31st December 2002
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Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed assets
Intangible assets – goodwill 13 301,236 41,014 – –
Tangible assets 14 528,297 309,775 384 293
Investments 15 – – 704,961 234,313

829,533 350,789 705,345 234,606

Current assets
Stocks 16 26,001 23,344 – –
Debtors 17 195,849 112,232 229,544 225,951
Cash at bank and in hand 18(a) 36,073 15,691 23,547 24,530

257,923 151,267 253,091 250,481
Creditors:
Amounts falling due within one year 18 (251,486) (153,977) (104,612) (69,860)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 6,437 (2,710) 148,479 180,621

Total assets less current liabilities 835,970 348,079 853,824 415,227
Creditors:
Amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (379,484) (87,136) (331,129) (53,089)
Provisions for liabilities and charges:
Deferred taxation 10d (30,081) (15,016) – –

426,405 245,927 522,695 362,138
Minority interests (1,730) – – –

Net assets 424,675 245,927 522,695 362,138

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 21 50,050 35,190 50,050 35,190
Share premium account 23 234,078 101,350 234,078 101,350
Revaluation reserve 23 2,390 2,400 – –
Investment revaluation reserve 23 32 32 – –
Other reserves 23 844 614 21,079 21,079
Profit and loss account 23 137,281 106,341 217,488 204,519

Equity shareholders’ funds 24 424,675 245,927 522,695 362,138

Approved by the board and signed on its behalf

J C Ivey Director

I R Dye Director
27th February 2003

Balance sheets
As at 31st December 2002
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2002 2001
Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 26 199,920 157,871

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 1,667 785
Interest paid (20,040) (8,957)

Net cash outflow (18,373) (8,172)

Taxation
UK corporation tax paid (17,142) (16,346)
Overseas tax paid (4,095) (670)

Net cash outflow (21,237) (17,016)

Capital expenditure
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (owned) (147,557) (107,237)
Proceeds from sale of properties 8,570 2,556
Proceeds from sale of other tangible fixed assets 14,578 5,997

Net cash outflow (124,409) (98,684)

35,901 33,999

Acquisitions and disposals
Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses
Sophus Berendsen 29 (426,061) –
Other 29 (32,535) (35,687)
Net balances acquired with subsidiaries 29 40,798 1,310
Additional costs of acquisitions in prior years – (21)

Net cash outflow (417,798) (34,398)
Equity dividends paid (25,370) (21,747)

Net cash outflow before financing (407,267) (22,146)

Financing
Issue of ordinary share capital 147,588 1,091
Repayment of loan notes (65) (78)
Repayment of finance lease hire purchase liabilities (4,588) (3,840)
Repayment of medium term loans (228,628) (24,069)
Additional medium term loans 506,019 40,511

Net cash inflow 420,326 13,615

Increase/(decrease) in cash 27 13,059 (8,531)

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31st December 2002



28 The Davis Service Group Plc
Report and accounts 2002

Basis of financial statements The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the
revaluation of land and buildings, and in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom. Compliance with
Statement of Standard Accounting Practice No 19, ‘Accounting for Investment Properties’, relating to depreciation on investment
properties, requires a departure from the requirements of the Companies Act 1985 as explained below.

A summary of the principal group accounting policies is set out below. Except where stated, all have been applied consistently
throughout the year and the preceding year.

Basis of consolidation The group financial statements consolidate those of the company and all its subsidiaries made up to 
31st December 2002. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated profit and loss
account from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal. In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost.

Changes in accounting policies The transitional provisions of FRS17 – ‘Retirement Benefits’, require additional disclosures relating to the
group’s pension schemes as shown in note 8. There will be no effect on the group’s results until full implementation of the standard.

Goodwill Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration given for a business over the fair value of the net assets
acquired.

In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard No 10 ‘Goodwill and Intangible Assets’ goodwill arising on acquisitions from 
1st January 1998 is capitalised as an intangible asset. Where such goodwill is regarded as having a limited estimated useful economic life,
it is amortised through the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over its life. Where such goodwill is regarded as having an
indefinite life, it is not amortised but is subjected to an annual impairment review and any impairment will be charged to the profit and
loss account.

In estimating the useful economic life of goodwill, account is taken of the nature of the business acquired, the stability of the industry,
the extent of continuing barriers to market entry and the expected future impact of competition. All acquisitions since 1st January 1998
are considered by the directors to have estimated useful economic lives of between five and twenty years depending on the business
acquired.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1st January 1998 remains eliminated against reserves. The goodwill attributable to any business
which is disposed of subsequently will be charged to the profit and loss account at the time of disposal.

Tangible fixed assets Land and buildings are shown at original historical cost or subsequent valuation. Properties classified as investment
properties are revalued annually and are included in the balance sheet at open market value. Full valuations are normally made by
independent professionally qualified valuers every five years and in the intervening years these valuations are updated by directors with
the assistance of independent professional advice as required. The aggregate surplus or deficit arising from such revaluation is transferred
to the investment revaluation reserve unless a diminution is considered permanent in which case it is charged to the profit and loss
account to the extent that it exceeds any previous revaluation surplus on the same asset. Prior to 1st January 2001, properties not
classified as investment properties were also revalued, albeit less frequently, any surplus or deficit being transferred to the revaluation
reserve. From 1st January 2001, following the adoption of the transitional provisions of FRS15 ‘Tangible Fixed Assets’, no further
revaluations will take place and any existing valuations, details of which are given in note 14, are being carried forward. Other fixed assets
are shown at cost.

Depreciation Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation, less estimated residual value, of each asset on
a straight line basis over its expected useful life, as follows:

Investment properties No depreciation is provided on investment properties as required by the Companies Act 1985 as the directors
consider that the regular valuations result in the financial statements giving a true and fair view. If these properties were to be
depreciated, the directors consider that any related depreciation would be immaterial.

Properties occupied by group companies Depreciation is being provided at a rate of 2% per annum on an estimate of the buildings
element of freehold properties and properties on leases with 50 or more years unexpired at the balance sheet date. This rate has been
determined having regard to the group’s practice to maintain these assets in a continual state of sound repair and to extend and make
improvements from time to time. Freehold land is not depreciated.

Statement of accounting policies
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Short leasehold land and buildings Depreciated by equal instalments over the period of the lease.

Plant and machinery Depreciated at rates of 10% to 50% per annum, depending on the class of asset.

Hire and rental inventory Depreciated at rates of 10% to 55%, depending on the class of asset, and augmented by amounts to cover
wastage, obsolescence and loss.

Finance leases and lease purchase arrangements Assets acquired under finance leases and lease purchase arrangements are
capitalised and are reported at cost: the equivalent liability is categorised as appropriate under creditors due within or after one year.

Finance charges are allocated to accounting periods over the period of the lease to produce a constant rate of charge on the
outstanding balance. Rentals are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the liability.

Operating leases Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Stocks Stocks comprise portable buildings being manufactured for sale and other stocks and stores.
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. For these purposes cost is defined as being the expenditure which has

been incurred (exclusive of value added tax) in bringing the various items to their present location and condition and will, in the case 
of work in progress and finished goods, include direct costs of labour and materials and, where appropriate, production overheads. 
Net realisable value is defined as being the estimated net sales value of the various items in their present location and condition. 
Full provision is made for obsolete, defective and slow moving stock.

Deferred taxation Deferred taxation is provided on a full provision basis, without discounting, on all timing differences which have
arisen but not reversed at the balance sheet date. Except where otherwise required by Accounting Standards, no timing differences are
recognised in respect of:

a) property revaluation surpluses where there is no commitment to sell the asset,
b) gains on sale of assets where those gains have been rolled over into replacement assets,
c) additional tax which would arise if profits of overseas subsidiaries were distributed, and
d) deferred tax assets except to the extent that it is more likely than not that they will be recovered.

Pension costs It is the policy of the group to fund defined pension liabilities, on the advice of external actuaries, by payments to schemes
controlled by independent trustees. Pension costs are charged against profits on a systematic basis over the service lives of the eligible
employees, based on payroll, actuarial methods and assumptions, in accordance with the actuaries’ advice. For unfunded pension
schemes, the group charges pension costs against profit and provides for liabilities on the advice of external advisers. The costs of defined
contribution schemes or pension arrangements of a similar nature are charged against profits as contributions become payable to the
relevant scheme or arrangement.

The group has adopted the additional disclosure requirements under the transitional provisions of FRS17 – ‘Retirement Benefits’. 

Foreign currency The results of overseas subsidiaries are translated at the average rates of exchange during the period and their balance
sheets are translated at year end exchange rates. The resulting exchange differences are dealt with through reserves and reported in the
consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses. Exchange differences arising on the consolidation of subsidiary undertakings
are dealt with through reserves, net of differences on related borrowings which finance or provide a hedge.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies held at the year end are translated at year end exchange rates. The resulting exchange gain or loss is
dealt with in the profit and loss account.

Turnover Group turnover comprises operating lease income and the value of sales (excluding sales taxes, trade discounts and intra-group
transactions) of goods and services in the normal course of business.

Operating lease income Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis.

Derivatives and other financial instruments
Interest rate swaps Interest expense reflects the underlying cost of borrowing. Net payments and receipts under interest rate swap
contracts are accrued over the period to which they relate and added to or credited against interest expense. No accounting entries are
required for the principal amount of interest rate swaps as it is purely a notional figure and does not represent an asset, a liability or a
contingency.

Employee share schemes In accordance with the exemption provided for in UITF abstract 17 ‘Employee share schemes’, no cost is
recognised in the profit and loss account for the award to employees of shares in the company’s UK Inland Revenue approved 
Sharesave Scheme.
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1 Holding company profit and loss account
As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the company has not presented its own profit and loss account. The profit for
the year ended 31st December 2002 dealt with in the accounts of the company was £31,011,000 (2001: £46,268,000) after taking
account of dividends receivable from subsidiaries of £35,994,000 (2001: £43,853,000).

2 Segmental analysis
(a) By class of business 2002 2001

Operating Net operating Operating Net operating
Turnover profit assets Turnover profit assets

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations
Textile maintenance – existing 248,878 41,107 147,800 238,674 38,005 131,753
Textile maintenance – Berendsen 245,838 24,744 166,104 – – –
Tool hire 182,105 18,882 133,322 173,730 26,406 124,076
Building systems 140,141 17,606 79,801 123,514 16,020 62,831
Central overheads net of property income – (3,529) 256 – (3,799) (823)

816,962 98,810 527,283 535,918 76,632 317,837
Goodwill amortisation – (12,450) 301,236 – (2,778) 41,014
Exceptional operating costs  – Berendsen (note 4) – (4,282) – – – –

816,962 82,078 828,519 535,918 73,854 358,851

Analysis of goodwill
Textile maintenance – existing (2,223) 25,166 (1,765) 25,727
Textile maintenance – Berendsen (8,678) 256,966 – –
Tool hire (664) 10,016 (401) 11,301
Building systems (885) 9,088 (612) 3,986

(12,450) 301,236 (2,778) 41,014

Notes to financial statements



2 Segmental analysis continued
(b) By geographical segment 2002 2001

Operating Net operating Operating Net operating
Turnover profit assets Turnover profit assets

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations
United Kingdom 490,878 72,850 281,129 470,599 71,994 251,175
Europe 286,863 28,749 209,452 38,873 3,933 30,832
United States of America 39,221 (2,789) 36,702 26,446 705 35,830

816,962 98,810 527,283 535,918 76,632 317,837
Goodwill amortisation – (12,450) 301,236 – (2,778) 41,014
Exceptional operating costs (Europe) – (4,282) – – – –

816,962 82,078 828,519 535,918 73,854 358,851

Analysis of goodwill
United Kingdom (3,016) 33,732 (2,285) 28,982
Europe (8,770) 257,648 (92) 731
United States of America (664) 9,856 (401) 11,301

(12,450) 301,236 (2,778) 41,014

(c) Reconciliation of net operating assets to net assets 2002 2001
£000 £000

Net operating assets (as above) 828,519 358,851
Net debt (383,624) (97,084)
Proposed dividend (20,220) (15,840)

Net assets (as per balance sheet) 424,675 245,927

(d) Acquisition The acquisition of Sophus Berendsen A/S during the period gives rise to the inclusion of the following amounts in Europe:
turnover £245,838,000; operating profit £24,744,000; goodwill amortisation £8,677,000; exceptional operating costs £4,282,000 and
net operating assets of £166,104,000.

The turnover by destination is not materially different from the turnover by origin as disclosed above.
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3 Cost of sales and other operating expenses and income
2002 2001

Continuing Acquisitions Total Continuing Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost of sales 265,200 133,326 398,526 248,773 248,773

Gross profit 300,815 117,621 418,436 287,145 287,145

Other operating expenses
Distribution costs 79,896 42,600 122,496 73,410 73,410
Administrative expenses 151,417 49,355 200,772 138,816 138,816
Loss on disposal of hire and rental inventory 
and plant and machinery 73 492 565 – –

231,386 92,447 323,833 212,226 212,226

Other operating income
Profit on disposal of hire and rental inventory 
and plant and machinery 2,958 431 3,389 1,250 1,250
Property rents received (net of related outgoings) 531 – 531 463 463
Other 287 – 287 – –

3,776 431 4,207 1,713 1,713

Operating profit
Before goodwill amortisation and exceptional 
operating costs 73,205 25,605 98,810 76,632 76,632
Goodwill amortisation (3,499) (8,951) (12,450) (2,778) (2,778)
Exceptional operating costs – (4,282) (4,282) – –

69,706 12,372 82,078 73,854 73,854

4 Exceptional items
(a) Exceptional operating costs 2002 2001

£000 £000

Closure of corporate head office (1,188) –
Closure costs of laundries (4,092) –
Release of provisions held in respect of the above 998 –

(4,282) –

The exceptional costs incurred in 2002 related to the closure of 21 laundries in the Scandinavian operations and the reduction of the
corporate head office in Copenhagen within the Berendsen business.

(b) Exceptional non-trading items 2002 2001
£000 £000

Profit on sale of properties in continuing operations (note i) 6,988 820
Exceptional finance costs (note ii) (655) –

6,333 820

(i) The profit on sale of properties incurred in 2002 largely related to the sale of the Ballsbridge property in Ireland.

(ii) The element of finance costs incurred in connection with the new syndicated bank loan facility, which does not relate to acquisition
and other medium-term loans, has been written off immediately in accordance with FRS4 – ‘Capital Instruments’.

Notes to financial statements continued
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5 Interest payable 2002 2001
£000 £000

On bank loans and overdrafts 17,578 5,781
Finance leases and similar charges 796 938
Other 516 80

18,890 6,799

6 Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 2002 2001
£000 £000

This is stated after charging:
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets – goodwill 12,450 2,778
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets:

Owned 123,888 82,174
Held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 4,337 3,838

Operating lease payments:
Plant and machinery 14,503 10,340
Land and buildings 23,964 17,693

Auditors’ remuneration – audit services (Company: £82,250 – 2001: £75,000) 837 457

Other professional fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers in the United Kingdom amounted to £189,000 (2001: £9,000).

7 Staff costs 2002 2001
£000 £000

Employee costs (including directors) during the year amounted to:
Wages and salaries 255,536 164,852
Social security costs 28,102 13,918
Other pension costs 9,315 3,883

292,953 182,653

The average monthly number of persons employed by the group during the year was as follows:
2002 2001

Number Number

Textile maintenance – existing 8,366 8,069
Textile maintenance – Berendsen 4,936 –
Tool hire 2,979 2,849
Building systems 1,533 1,314
Other activities 23 20

Total group 17,837 12,252

The above includes 2,922 part-time staff (2001: 2,064). The full year average effect, during our period of ownership, for Sophus Berendsen
was 7,367 employees.
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8 Pension arrangements
Within the United Kingdom, the group principally operates an approved defined benefit scheme (the Davis Service Group Retirement
Benefits Scheme). As a consequence of acquisitions, the group also operates a number of other pension arrangements which, in normal
circumstances, will be consolidated into the principal scheme as soon as is practicable. The group has also established stakeholder
arrangements on behalf of its UK employees.

Overseas, the only significant pension arrangements are the defined benefit schemes operated by Spring Grove Services (Ireland)
Limited, and the pension schemes of Sophus Berendsen acquired during the year. Two of the Sophus Berendsen schemes are unfunded
schemes of a defined benefit nature. Under such schemes the group discharges its pension obligations through actuarially determined
contributions to schemes administered by insurance companies or government agencies. The group’s pension cost for the year with
respect to Sophus Berendsen was £3,961,000, of which £1,273,000 related to defined benefit schemes.

Each of the defined benefit schemes is funded in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries, is subject to independent actuarial
valuations every three years and, where applicable, has its assets held in separate trustee administered funds. Payments in respect of
defined contribution schemes or similar arrangements are made in accordance with the rules of the relevant scheme or arrangement.

The group has continued to account for pensions in accordance with SSAP 24 – ‘Accounting for pension costs’ and the disclosures
given in (a) are those required by that standard. The disclosures required under the transitional provisions of FRS17 – ‘Retirement Benefits’,
to the extent not given in (a), are set out in (b): these provide information which would be necessary for full implementation of FRS17.

(a) SSAP 24 Details of the most recent actuarial valuation of the principal UK scheme, which accounts for 46% of the group’s total
pension cost, are as follows:

Effective date – 1st February 2001
Valuation methods – Projected unit (four categories)

– Attained age (two categories – closed to joiners)
Main assumptions
Investment returns 6% pa
Pensionable salary increases 4% pa
Employers’ contribution level as a percentage of pensionable salaries 15.7%
Market value of scheme assets at effective date £91,613,000

The actuarial value of the assets of the scheme was sufficient to cover 94% of the benefits that had accrued to members after allowing
for future salary increases. The then deficit of £6,230,000 is being amortised over the remaining estimated service lives of employees by
an increase in contributions. Contributions have been increased further in order to reflect the effects of having closed to joiners a
category of the scheme during the year and the reduced values of equities held in the funds.

(b) FRS17 The actuarial valuations of the principal scheme, referred to in (a) above, the other UK defined benefit schemes operated by the
group and two Berendsen unfunded schemes in Sweden and Germany, have each been updated as at 31st December 2002 by qualified
actuaries using revised assumptions that are consistent with the requirements of FRS17. The assets of the schemes are stated at their fair
value as at 31st December 2002.

The principal actuarial assumptions used to calculate the schemes’ liabilities as at 31st December 2002 were:
2002 2001

Projected unit
Sweden and Projected unit Projected unit

Valuation method Germany UK and Ireland UK and Ireland

Rate of increase in salaries 3.00% 3.53% 3.54%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred pensions:

Excess over GMP pre 31st January 1999 (Davis RBS only) – 5.00% 5.00%
Other 2.00% 2.53% 2.52%

Inflation rate 2.00% 2.50% 2.50%
Discount rate 5.00% 6.00% 6.00%

Notes to financial statements continued
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8 Pension arrangements continued
The assets and liabilities of the schemes together with the expected rates of return on the schemes’ assets are shown below:

2002 2001

Long-term Long-term
expected expected

rate of return Valuation rate of return Valuation
% £000 % £000

Equities 6.58 51,683 6.62 66,982
Bonds 5.48 25,707 5.49 21,045
Cash and other assets 5.50 602 6.50 493

Total fair value of assets 77,992 88,520
Present value of liabilities (118,437) (106,208)

Surplus/(deficit) in schemes (40,445) (17,688)
Related deferred tax asset 11,774 5,400

Net pension liability (28,671) (12,288)

The following disclosures are required under FRS17 transitional arrangements, the balances of which would be reflected in the financial
statements upon full implementation of FRS17.

2002
£000

Analysis of the pension expense in the profit and loss account
Current service cost 4,144
Past service cost –

Total charge against operating profit 4,144

Expected return on assets 5,810
Interest on pension liabilities (6,766)

Net return (956)

Analysis of amount recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses
Actual return on scheme assets less than expected (20,415)
Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities (1,840)
Change in assumptions (1,491)

Actuarial losses recognised in STRGL (23,746)

The actuarial losses of £23,746,000 represent 20.0% of the scheme liabilities as at 31st December 2002.

Movement in deficit during the year
Deficit at beginning of year (17,688)
Contributions 5,435
Current service cost (4,144)
Past service cost –
Other finance income (956)
Actuarial losses recognised in STRGL (23,746)
Acquisition of Sophus Berendsen 654

Deficit at end of year (40,445)
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8 Pension arrangements continued
Had FRS17 been adopted early in full, the group’s net assets and profit and loss reserves would have been stated as follows:

2002 2001
£000 £000

Net assets excluding net pension liability 424,675 245,927
Pension assets 125 565
Pension liability (28,796) (12,853)

Net assets including pension liability 396,004 233,639

Profit and loss reserve excluding pension deficit 137,281 106,341
Pension deficit (28,671) (12,288)

Profit and loss reserve including pension deficit 108,610 94,053

9 Directors’ emoluments
Details of directors’ emoluments are given in the report on directors’ remuneration set out in the tables on pages 16 to 19.

10 Taxation
(a) Analysis of charge for the year Group Group

2002 2001

£000 £000 £000 £000

Current tax:
UK corporation tax on profits for the year 15,447 19,328
Adjustments in respect of previous years 19 (1,147)

15,466 18,181
Overseas tax 11,075 656

Total current tax (note 10b) 26,541 18,837
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences (2,790) 996
Changes in tax rates and laws (48) (53)

Total deferred tax (note 10d) (2,838) 943

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 23,703 19,780

On ordinary activities before exceptional items 24,065 20,775
On exceptional items (note 4) (362) –
Pre acquisition credit in respect of acquisition in prior years – (995)

23,703 19,780
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10 Taxation continued
(b) Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year The current tax charge for the year is different from the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK. The difference is explained below:

Group Group
2002 2001
£000 £000

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 71,221 68,681

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of UK corporation tax of 30% (2001: 30%) 21,366 20,604
Effects of:
Differences between capital allowances and depreciation (5,182) (1,122)
Timing differences 3,464 67
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (primarily goodwill amortisation) 1,938 1,092
Tax losses 6,361 (194)
Differences between chargeable gains and profit or loss on disposal – (215)
Overseas tax rates (1,425) (248)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 19 (1,147)

Current tax charge for the year (note 10a) 26,541 18,837

(c) Factors that may affect the future tax charge Group Group
2002 2001
£000 £000

Tax on rolled–over gains which become payable only if the relevant assets are sold and no qualifying assets 
are available for subsequent roll–over 1,231 1,085

Tax value of losses which will be recognised when the benefit thereof can be anticipated with 
reasonable certainty 10,407 3,791

(d) Deferred taxation Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax comprises:
Excess of tax allowances over depreciation 32,359 16,382 (33) (41)
Other timing differences (2,541) (1,342) 4 6
Tax losses carried forward (3,222) (1,748) – –

26,596 13,292 (29) (35)

Movement during the year:
Beginning of the year – as previously reported 13,292 9,346 (35) 5
Prior year adjustment – 4,742 – (37)

Beginning of the year – as restated 13,292 14,088 (35) (32)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 12,166 (1,768) – –
Currency translation differences 782 29 – –
Transfer to current tax 3,194 – – –
Amount (credited)/charged to profit and loss account (2,838) 943 6 (3)

End of year 26,596 13,292 (29) (35)
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10 Taxation continued Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance sheet presentation:
Current assets (note 17) (3,485) (1,724) (29) (35)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 30,081 15,016 – –

26,596 13,292 (29) (35)

The group current assets figure comprises net deferred tax assets (principally tax losses) in overseas jurisdictions.

11 Dividends 2002 2001
£000 £000

Ordinary:
Interim paid of 4.75 pence per share (2001: 4.52 pence – restated) 9,530 7,441
Final proposed of 10.10 pence per share (2001: 9.60 pence – restated) 20,220 15,840

29,750 23,281

The 2001 dividends per share have been restated for the effect of the 2002 Rights Issue.

12 Earnings per ordinary share
Basic earnings per ordinary share are based on the group profit for the year and a weighted average of 188,462,978 (2001: restated
164,476,502) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share are based on the group profit for the year and a weighted average of ordinary shares in issue during the year
calculated as follows:

2001
2002 Number

Number of shares
of shares (restated)

In issue 188,462,978 164,476,502
Dilutive potential ordinary shares arising from unexercised share options 3,096,109 1,350,708

191,559,087 165,827,210

An adjusted earnings per ordinary share figure has been presented to eliminate the effects of exceptional items and goodwill
amortisation. This presentation shows the trend in earnings per ordinary share that is attributable to the underlying trading activities 
of the group. 

The reconciliation between the two figures is as follows:
2002 2001

Earnings
Earnings per share

per share (restated)
£000 pence £000 pence

Profit for basic earnings per share calculation 47,248 25.07 48,901 29.73
(Profit) on disposal of properties (after taxation) (5,901) (3.13) (820) (0.49)
Goodwill amortisation 12,450 6.61 2,778 1.69
Pre acquisition tax credit in respect of acquisition in prior years – – (995) (0.61)
Exceptional operating costs (after taxation) 3,030 1.61 – –
Exceptional finance costs (after taxation) 458 0.24 – –

Profit for adjusted earnings per share calculation 57,285 30.40 49,864 30.32

The 2001 number of shares and earnings per share have been restated for the effect of the 2002 Rights Issue.
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13 Intangible fixed assets – goodwill Cost Amortisation Net book value
£000 £000 £000

Beginning of year 47,086 6,072 41,014
Currency translation differences 11,101 128 10,973
Acquisitions during the year (see note 29) 261,464 – 261,464
Additional costs of acquisitions in prior year 235 – 235
Amortisation charge – 12,450 (12,450)

End of year 319,886 18,650 301,236

In accordance with the accounting policy for goodwill set out on page 28, goodwill arising after 1st January 1998 has been capitalised
and is being amortised over its useful economic life. 

Goodwill arising on consolidation prior to 1st January 1998 remains eliminated against reserves (see note 23).

14 Tangible fixed assets
Land and Investment

Plant and machinery
Hire and rental

buildings properties Owned Leased inventory Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group
Cost or valuation:
Beginning of year 83,995 110 145,752 23,315 308,416 561,588
Currency translation differences 5,242 – 12,051 194 11,296 28,783
Additions 10,174 – 25,141 3,820 112,242 151,377
Acquisition of subsidiaries 82,494 – 170,598 2,775 211,369 467,236
Disposals (4,234) – (32,368) (1,657) (86,856) (125,115)
Reclassification during year 513 – 191 (202) (502) –

End of year 178,184 110 321,365 28,245 555,965 1,083,869

Depreciation:
Beginning of year 14,299 – 87,108 14,191 136,215 251,813
Currency translation differences 1,978 – 8,130 80 8,339 18,527
Charge 5,701 – 19,564 4,337 98,623 128,225
Acquisition of subsidiaries 31,170 – 113,631 1,096 122,653 268,550
Disposals (2,653) – (26,941) (1,475) (80,474) (111,543)
Reclassification during year 8 – 25 (18) (15) –

End of year 50,503 – 201,517 18,211 285,341 555,572

Net book value:
At 31st December 2002 127,681 110 119,848 10,034 270,624 528,297

At 31st December 2001 69,696 110 58,644 9,124 172,201 309,775
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14 Tangible fixed assets continued
Property valuation
The group’s land and buildings and investment properties have been valued on an existing use basis by independent professional valuers 
as follows:

Long Short
Freehold leasehold leasehold

£000 £000 £000

Land and buildings:
At 31st December 2002
At 1989 valuation 6,457 – –
At 1992 valuation – 170 –
At cost 129,788 2,256 39,513

136,245 2,426 39,513

At 31st December 2001 47,626 2,364 34,005

Investment properties:
At 31st December 2002
At 1992 valuation 110 – –

At 31st December 2001 110 – –

The group’s investment properties were valued at 31st December 1992 by professional valuers at open market value and the valuations
incorporated in the accounts. The directors have reviewed these valuations and have concluded that any adjustments to reflect a change in
value as at 31st December 2002 would not be material.

If land and buildings and investment properties had not been revalued they would have been included at the following amounts:
Land and Land and Investment Investment
buildings buildings properties properties

2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost 175,638 81,450 39 39
Aggregate depreciation based on cost (50,254) (14,082) (1) (1)

Net book value based on cost 125,384 67,368 38 38

Short Plant and
leasehold machinery
property owned Total

£000 £000 £000

Company
Cost:
Beginning of year 330 539 869
Additions – 220 220
Disposals – (171) (171)

End of year 330 588 918

Depreciation:
Beginning of year 196 380 576
Charge 16 97 113
Disposals – (155) (155)

End of year 212 322 534

Net book value:
At 31st December 2002 118 266 384

At 31st December 2001 134 159 293
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15 Fixed asset investments Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Investment in shares of subsidiary undertakings – – 704,961 234,313

The list of the principal trading subsidiary undertakings of the group is given on page 51 of these financial statements. The company
owns, either directly or through subsidiary undertakings, 100% of the issued share capital of each of the subsidiary undertakings listed
thereon, with the exception of Berendsen Textile Service Sp.z.o.o in which there is a 25% minority interest. A full list of subsidiary
undertakings will be filed with the company’s next annual return.

16 Stocks Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Raw materials and consumables 7,663 3,963 – –
Work in progress 2,739 3,405 – –
Finished goods and goods for resale 15,599 15,976 – –

26,001 23,344 – –

17 Debtors Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 151,788 93,779 – –
Due from subsidiaries – – 9,640 6,069
Dividends receivable from subsidiary companies – – 29,494 36,852
Other debtors 19,188 2,152 298 239
Prepayments and accrued income 17,441 13,942 281 243
Taxation recoverable 3,947 635 3,029 –
Deferred tax asset 1,428 6 29 35

193,792 110,514 42,771 43,438
Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Due from subsidiaries – – 186,773 182,513
Deferred tax asset 2,057 1,718 – –

195,849 112,232 229,544 225,951

18 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank overdrafts (note a) 5,033 1,271 28,061 28,179
Bank loans (note 19) 48,653 22,170 36,921 17,000
Trade creditors 59,754 43,287 226 46
Customer deposits 463 440 – –
Obligations under finance leases/hire purchase contracts 4,443 3,730 – –
Loan notes 121 186 – –
Due to subsidiaries – – 15,523 6,139
Other creditors 27,957 9,411 1,037 1,197
Dividend payable 20,220 15,840 20,220 15,840
Corporation tax payable 11,567 12,796 – 584
Other taxes and social security 23,315 11,461 106 266
Accruals and deferred income 49,960 33,385 2,518 609

251,486 153,977 104,612 69,860

(a) The group’s UK bank accounts are subject to set-off arrangements covered by cross-guarantees and are presented accordingly.
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19 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank loans 354,769 78,855 331,129 53,089
Obligations under finance leases/hire purchase contracts 6,677 6,563 – –
Other 18,038 1,718 – –

379,484 87,136 331,129 53,089

Obligations under finance leases/hire purchase contracts
Amounts falling due:
Between one and two years 3,273 3,045 – –
Between two and five years 3,249 3,348 – –
Over five years 155 170 – –

6,677 6,563 – –

In accordance with FRS4, Capital Instruments, bank loans are stated net of issue costs of £2,386,000 (2001: £nil).

20 Derivatives and other financial instruments
(a) Objectives, policies and strategies A commentary on the objectives, policies and strategies of the group regarding the use of derivatives
and other financial instruments is included in the financial review on pages 12 and 13.

(b) Short-term debtors and creditors In accordance with FRS13, short-term debtors and creditors are excluded from the disclosures
relating to derivatives and other financial instruments shown in this note 20, other than the currency disclosures shown in note 20(f).

(c) Financial assets Financial assets comprise cash at bank and in hand. There are no financial assets, other than short-term debtors,
excluded from this analysis.

Group Group
2002 2001
£000 £000

Currency profile
Sterling 5,343 9,493
Swedish Krona 11,207 –
Danish Krone 6,806 –
Euro 9,569 3,429
Other European 2,186 –
US dollars 962 2,769

36,073 15,691

Interest rate profile Other than cash in hand of £439,000 (2001: £388,000), the financial assets are all at floating rates linked to the
relevant market’s overnight money market or short-term bank deposit rate.

(d) Borrowings Borrowings equate to total financial liabilities other than short-term trade creditors: there are no other financial liabilities 
requiring disclosure.

Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Maturity analysis of borrowings including finance leases and 
hire purchase contracts:
Within one year – bank 54,352 23,441 65,649 45,179

– other 4,564 3,916 – –
Within one to two years – bank 38,442 18,500 36,000 18,500

– other 3,273 3,045 – –
Within two to five years – bank 317,945 44,113 296,848 28,653

– other 3,249 3,348 – –
Over five years – bank 102 16,242 – 5,936

– other 155 170 – –

422,082 112,775 398,497 98,268
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20 Derivatives and other financial instruments continued
Interest rate profile of borrowings (after taking account of interest rate swaps)

Group
2002

Danish Other
Krone Sterling US dollars Euro European Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At fixed rates 150,061 24,776 15,529 454 890 191,710
At floating rates 145,272 54,057 27,144 3,851 48 230,372

Total 295,333 78,833 42,673 4,305 938 422,082

Fixed rates:
Weighted average interest rate 5.25% 6.71% 5.53% 8.75% 4.64% 5.47%
Weighted average period 
for which rate fixed (years) 2.42 2.72 3.51 2.31 2.14 2.55

Group
2001

Sterling Euro US dollars Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

At fixed rates 9,912 339 42 10,293
At floating rates 61,686 1,288 39,508 102,482

Total 71,598 1,627 39,550 112,775

Fixed rates:
Weighted average interest rate 7.43% 6.44% 9.50% 7.35%
Weighted average period for which rate fixed (years) 1.60 3.21 0.35 1.64

Floating rate borrowings comprise bank loans bearing interest at rates set for periods ranging from one to six months by reference to the
London Inter Bank Offer Rate or the relevant local currency equivalent.

(e) Borrowing facilities The group has undrawn committed borrowing facilities which at 31st December 2002 amounted to £45,600,000
(2001: £12,024,000). The facility is due for renewal by 2007.

(f) Currency exposure The table below shows the group’s currency exposures being those transactional exposures that give rise to the net
currency gains and losses that are recognised in the profit and loss account. Such exposures comprise the monetary assets and liabilities
of the group that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating entity.

Group 
2002

Net foreign currency monetary assets/(liabilities)

Danish Swedish Other
US dollars Euro Sterling Krone Krona European Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Functional currency of group 
operation:
Sterling (822) 1,362 – – – – 540
Euro – – (259) – – – (259)
Danish Krone – 3 (206) – 167 1 (35)
Swedish Krona – (394) (44) (376) – (36) (850)
Norwegian Krone – (258) (7) (4) (6) – (275)

Total (822) 713 (516) (380) 161 (35) (879)
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20 Derivatives and other financial instruments continued Group 
2001

Net foreign currency monetary assets/(liabilities)

Other
Sterling US dollars Euro European Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Functional currency of group operation:
Sterling – (1,154) 1,018 – (136)
Euro (82) – – – (82)

Total (82) (1,154) 1,018 – (218)

(g) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities Group Group
2002 2001

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£000 £000 £000 £000

Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance operations:
Bank borrowings (410,841) (410,841) (102,296) (102,296)
Finance lease obligations (11,120) (11,201) (10,293) (10,376)
Loan notes (121) (121) (186) (186)

(422,082) (422,163) (112,775) (112,858)

Cash balances 36,073 36,073 15,691 15,691
Derivative financial instruments held to manage the interest rate 
and currency profile:
Interest rate swaps – (8,204) – –

(i) The fair value of bank borrowings and loan notes (all of which are at floating rates) and cash balances (all being short maturity) equate
to book value.

(ii) The fair value of finance lease obligations have been determined by discounting the minimum lease payments at market rates.

(iii) The fair value of the group’s then outstanding interest rate swap agreement was obtained by reference to the market price for a swap
with a similar profile at the balance sheet date.

(h) Gains and losses on hedges The unrecognised gains and losses on the interest rate swap and the movements therein are as follows:
Group Group

Gain/(loss) Gain/(loss) 
2002 2001
£000 £000

Beginning of year – (334)
Losses arising in previous years recognised during the year – 334

(Losses) arising in previous years not yet recognised – –
(Losses)/gains arising during the year not yet recognised (8,204) –

End of year (8,204) –

Comprising gains and losses expected to be recognised:
Within one year (3,109) –
After one year (5,095) –
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21 Called up share capital Authorised Fully paid
Number of Authorised Number of Fully paid

shares £000 shares £000

Ordinary shares of 25 pence each 
At 1st January 2002 244,000,000 61,000 140,760,354 35,190
Issued upon exercise of employee share options (note a) – – 730,763 183
Rights issue (note b) – – 58,707,646 14,677
Increase in authorised share capital (note c) 31,000,000 7,750 – –

At 31st December 2002 275,000,000 68,750 200,198,763 50,050

(a) The exercise of employee share options resulted in the receipt of £2,175,380 of which £1,992,689 has been credited to the share
premium account.

(b) On 22nd March 2002 a rights issue was announced in connection with the acquisition of Sophus Berendsen. The rights issue was
made on the basis of five new shares for every twelve ordinary shares held in the company. The company issued 58,707,646 ordinary
shares of 25p each at a price of 250 pence per share.

(c) On 8th April 2002 the company’s authorised share capital was increased from £61,000,000 to £68,750,000 by the creation of
31,000,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each.

22 Share options Not Price per
exercised at share

31st December pence
2002 (restated)

The company has options still to be exercised in respect of the following ordinary shares:
The Godfrey Davis 1987 Executive Share Option Scheme
Date of grant 15th April 1994 261,564 191.25

11th April 1996 44,785 207.65
12th April 1996 182,184 207.65

The Davis 1998 Share Option Scheme
Date of grant 25th June 1998 791,225 340.04

19th April 1999 915,185 367.77
24th March 2001 979,064 251.29
20th September 2001 52,734 245.32
6th April 2002 23,437 273.05
11th October 2002 550,500 291.00

The Davis Service Group Savings Related Share Option Scheme (‘Sharesave Scheme’)
Date of grant 12th October 1998 512,242 236.36

10th October 2001 1,154,457 202.23
14th October 2002 1,224,673 256.00

6,692,050

(a) The options, other than the Sharesave Scheme, are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date granted. 
Options under the Sharesave Scheme are exercisable between five years one month and five years seven months from the date granted.

(b) In the event that all the above options were to be exercised at the prices shown, the company would receive £17.9 million in cash.

(c) The closing mid-market price of the ordinary shares at 31st December 2002 was 268.5 pence and during the year ranged from 
266 pence to 510 pence.

(d) The price per share for all options has been amended to reflect the effect of the April 2002 rights issue.
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23 Reserves Investment
Share Revaluation revaluation Other Profit and loss

premium reserve reserve reserves account Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group
Beginning of year 101,350 2,400 32 614 106,341 210,737

Issue of share capital 132,728 – – – – 132,728
Revaluation element of property 
depreciation charge – (10) – – 10 –
Currency translation differences – – – 230 9,864 10,094
Tax effect of foreign exchange losses – – – – 3,568 3,568
Retained profit for the year – – – – 17,498 17,498

End of year 234,078 2,390 32 844 137,281 374,625

Share Other Profit and loss
premium reserves account Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Company
Beginning of year 101,350 21,079 204,519 326,948

Issue of share capital 132,728 – – 132,728
Currency translation differences – – 8,140 8,140
Tax effect of foreign exchange losses – – 3,568 3,568
Retained profit for the year – – 1,261 1,261

End of year 234,078 21,079 217,488 472,645

(a) Cumulative goodwill arising on acquisition prior to 1st January 1998 written off to group reserves at 31st December 2002, net of
amounts attributable to subsidiary undertakings disposed of, amounted to £139,509,000 (2001: £139,509,000). 

24 Reconciliation of movements in equity shareholders’ funds
2002 2001
£000 £000

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders 47,248 48,901
Dividends (29,750) (23,281)

17,498 25,620
Currency translation 10,094 (567)
Tax effect of foreign exchange losses 3,568 –
Issue of share capital 147,588 1,091

Net addition to shareholders’ funds 178,748 26,144
Opening equity shareholders’ funds 245,927 219,783

Closing equity shareholders’ funds 424,675 245,927

25 Guarantees and other financial commitments Group Group Company Company
2002 2001 2002 2001
£000 £000 £000 £000

Capital commitments
Contracted for 16,954 7,346 – –

Notes to financial statements continued
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25 Guarantees and other financial commitments continued 2002 2001

Land and Land and
buildings Other buildings Other

£000 £000 £000 £000

Lease commitments 
At 31st December 2002 annual commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases comprise those which expire as follows:
Group
Within one year 695 1,213 1,006 924
Within two to five years 7,781 9,332 5,358 5,707
Over five years 16,215 453 13,930 53

24,691 10,998 20,294 6,684

Company
Within one year – – – –
Within two to five years – – – –
Over five years 357 – 345 –

357 – 345 –

The majority of leases of land and buildings are subject to rent reviews.

Contingent liabilities
(i) The company has guaranteed overdrafts of certain subsidiary undertakings, the amount outstanding at 31st December 2002 being 
£24,246,000 (2001: £18,486,000).

(ii) The company has guaranteed the liabilities of its subsidiaries, Spring Grove Ireland Limited, Spring Grove Services (Ireland) Limited and 
Steri-Tex Limited pursuant to Section 17 of the Irish, Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986.

26 Net cash inflow from operating activities 2002 2001
£000 £000

Operating profit 82,078 73,854
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 12,450 2,778
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 128,225 86,012
Profit on disposal of tangible fixed assets (2,824) (1,250)
Decrease in stocks 8,633 (8,047)
Increase in debtors (16,397) (3,730)
Decrease in creditors: due within one year (12,245) 8,254

199,920 157,871

27 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt 2002 2001
£000 £000

Increase/(decrease) in cash 13,059 (8,531)
Cash inflow from movement in debt and lease financing (272,738) (12,524)

Changes in net debt resulting from cash flows (259,679) (21,055)
New finance leases (3,820) (2,990)
Loans and lease obligations acquired with subsidiaries (12,815) (76)
Translation difference (10,226) 1,881

Movement in net debt in year (286,540) (22,240)
Net debt at beginning of year (97,084) (74,844)

Net debt at end of year (383,624) (97,084)
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28 Analysis of net debt At beginning Other non-cash Exchange At end
of year Cash flow changes movement of year

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 15,691 16,714 – 3,668 36,073
Bank overdrafts (1,271) (3,655) – (107) (5,033)

14,420 13,059 – 3,561 31,040
Loans and lease obligations (111,504) (272,738) (16,635) (13,787) (414,664)

Net debt (97,084) (259,679) (16,635) (10,226) (383,624)

29 Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 
All subsidiaries acquired in the year have been consolidated into the group using acquisition accounting.

Sophus Berendsen was acquired on 22nd April 2002. The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired were as follows:

Fair value adjustments

Accounting Total fair
Book value policy value to

at acquisition alignment Revaluation the group
£000 £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired
Tangible fixed assets 186,619 (1,034) (3,904) 181,681
Stocks 11,415 – (820) 10,595
Debtors 61,045 – (4,980) 56,065
Cash at bank and in hand 40,461 – – 40,461
Bank loans and overdrafts (11,210) – – (11,210)
Lease finance obligations (564) – – (564)
Current liabilities – other (60,716) (2,827) (3,240) (66,783)
Current taxation 1,139 182 2,193 3,514
Creditors due over one year (17,475) – 455 (17,020)
Deferred tax (17,249) (41) 6,193 (11,097)
Minority interests (1,424) – – (1,424)

192,041 (3,720) (4,103) 184,218

Goodwill and expenses of acquisition 241,843

Consideration in cash 426,061

The fair values of the net assets acquired have been estimated on a provisional basis pending the outcome of matters requiring further
assessment. The material adjustments relate to the write down of tangible fixed assets and the recognition of a deferred tax asset relating
to tax losses brought forward.

The results of Sophus Berendsen from 1st January 2002 to the date of acquisition were as follows: £000

Turnover 105,527
Operating Profit 9,571 
Goodwill amortisation (2,672)
Exceptional items (note a) (4,454)
Profit before taxation 2,445 
Interest (31)
Taxation (1,559)
Minority interests (120)

Profit for the period 735

(a) Exceptional items contained costs of a non-recurring nature which were incurred as a result of merger and acquisition activity.

Notes to financial statements continued
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29 Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings continued
The total recognised gains and losses of Sophus Berendsen for the period 1st January 2002 to the date of acquisition were as follows:

£000

Profit for the period 735 
Currency translation differences on net investment in overseas subsidiaries 713

Total recognised gains and losses 1,448

The previous financial year of Sophus Berendsen was for the period 1st January 2001 to 31st December 2001. Sophus Berendsen's profit
after tax and minority interests for this period was £268,044,000.

Other acquisitions during the year comprised: Acquisition date

Daybrook 15th February 2002
Porterplant Limited 21st June 2002
Hovo de Maas (Netherlands) 1st July 2002
Sulzenbacher Textil Service (Austria) 1st August 2002
Cleanservice (Denmark) 1st August 2002
Contract Lifting Services Limited 30th September 2002
KM-Tvätten (Sweden) 12th December 2002
Vätterns Linnetjänst (Sweden) 12th December 2002

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired for other acquisitions during the year comprised of:
Fair value adjustments

Accounting Total fair
Book value policy value to

at acquisition alignment Revaluation the group
£000 £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired
Tangible fixed assets 17,259 23 (277) 17,005
Stocks 65 – – 65
Debtors 4,517 – – 4,517
Cash at bank and in hand 1,102 – – 1,102
Bank loans and overdrafts (830) – – (830)
Lease finance obligations (809) – (168) (977)
Current liabilities – other (6,568) – 21 (6,547)
Current taxation (343) – – (343)
Creditors due over one year – – (9) (9)
Deferred tax (1,091) – 22 (1,069)
Minority interests – – – –

13,302 23 (411) 12,914

Goodwill and expenses of acquisition 19,621

Consideration in cash 32,535
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2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Turnover
Continuing operations 816,962 535,918 470,935 429,760 406,569
Discontinued operations – – 205 1,507 1,396

816,962 535,918 471,140 431,267 407,965

Operating profit
Continuing operations
– before goodwill amortisation and exceptional costs 98,810 76,632 69,975 65,320 59,110
– goodwill amortisation (12,450) (2,778) (2,350) (722) (201)

86,360 73,854 67,625 64,598 58,909
Restructuring costs following acquisitions (4,282) – (1,330) – –

82,078 73,854 66,295 64,598 58,909
Discontinued operations – – (28) 598 716

Total operating profit 82,078 73,854 66,267 65,196 59,625
(Loss)/profit on sale/termination of operations – – (25) – –
Goodwill previously written off – – (15) – –
Profit/(loss) on sale of properties 6,988 820 1,379 861 (169)

Profit on ordinary activities before interest 89,066 74,674 67,606 66,057 59,456
Interest receivable 1,700 806 706 458 1,331
Exceptional finance costs (655) – – – –
Interest payable (18,890) (6,799) (6,978) (5,081) (5,731)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 71,221 68,681 61,334 61,434 55,056
Taxation (23,703) (19,780) (19,127) (18,610) (16,932)

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 47,518 48,901 42,207 42,824 38,124
Minority interest (270) – – – –

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 47,248 48,901 42,207 42,824 38,214
Dividends paid and proposed (29,750) (23,281) (20,897) (19,463) (17,508)

Retained profit for the year 17,498 25,620 21,310 23,361 20,616

Shareholders’ funds 424,675 245,927 219,783 196,308 174,512

Basic earnings per ordinary share* 25.07p 29.73p 25.71p 26.22p 23.48p
Adjusted earnings per ordinary share* 30.40p 30.32p 26.93p 26.27p 23.70p

Dividend per ordinary share – net* 14.85p 14.12p 12.71p 11.86p 10.75p

Dividend times covered – on profit for financial year 1.69 2.10 2.02 2.20 2.18
– on adjusted earnings 2.05 2.14 2.12 2.20 2.20

*The figures for 2001 and prior years have been restated to reflect the bonus element of the 2002 Rights Issue

Five year record
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Company Country of incorporation and principal country of operation

Textile Maintenance 
The Sunlight Service Group Limited* Great Britain
Spring Grove Services (Ireland) Limited Republic of Ireland
Modeluxe Linge Service SA France

Sophus Berendsen
Berendsen Textil Service Denmark
Berendsen Tekstil Service AS Norway
Berendsen Textil Service AB Sweden
Berendsen Safety AB Sweden
Berendsen Beteiligungs GmbH Germany
Berendsen Textiel Service BV The Netherlands
Berendsen Textile Service Sp.z.o.o. Poland

Tool Hire
HSS Hire Service Group plc* Great Britain
RentX Industries Inc. United States of America

Building Systems
Elliott Group Limited* Great Britain

*Owned directly by The Davis Service Group Plc

Advisers
Investment Bankers Dresdner Kleinwort Wasserstein, London

Stockbrokers Dresdner Kleinwort Wasserstein, London

Solicitors Slaughter and May, London

Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, London

Registrars Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6DA

The portfolio service from Lloyds TSB Registrars gives shareholders access to more information on their investments including balance
movements, indicative share prices and information on recent dividends.

For more details on this and practical help on transferring shares or updating details, visit: www.shareview.co.uk.

Financial calendar
Interim results announced September

Final results announced February

Ordinary interim dividend paid October

Ordinary final dividend paid April

Annual general meeting 25th April 2003

Website
These financial statements may be downloaded as a pdf file from the company’s website (www.dsgplc.co.uk) which also contains further
information about the group and links into the websites of its subsidiaries:

Sunlight Service Group www.sunlight.co.uk
HSS Hire Service Group www.hss.com
Elliott Group www.elliott-group.co.uk
Sophus Berendsen www.berendsen.com

Principal subsidiary undertakings
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Notice is hereby given that the twenty-third annual general meeting of The Davis Service Group Plc will be held at Skinners’ Hall, 
81/2 Dowgate Hill, London EC4R 2SP on 25th April 2003 at 11 am for the following purposes:

Ordinary business
1 To receive and adopt the directors’ report, the remuneration committee report, and the financial statements.

2 To declare the dividend recommended by the directors.

3 To re-elect J C Ivey, as a director.

4 To re-elect J D Burns, as a director.

5 To reappoint the auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (having previously been appointed by the board to fill the casual vacancy arising
by reason of the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers), and to authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

Special business
6 To propose as an ordinary resolution that, the directors be and they are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all 
the powers of the company to allot relevant securities (within the meaning of Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985) up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £16,683,000 provided that this authority shall (unless previously revoked or varied by the company in general meeting)
expire on the date of the next annual general meeting of the company after the passing of this resolution or a date 15 months from the
date of this resolution whichever is the earlier save that the company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or
might require relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such an offer
or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.

7 To propose as an ordinary resolution that the individual limit on directors’ fees set out in the company’s Articles of Association be
increased from £40,000 to £50,000. 

8 To propose as a special resolution that, subject to the passing of the previous resolution, the directors be and they are hereby
empowered pursuant to Section 95 of the Companies Act 1985 to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 94 of the said
Act) wholly for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by the previous resolution as if sub-section (1) of the said Section 89 did not
apply to any such allotment provided that this power shall be limited:

(i) to the allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue in favour of ordinary shareholders where the equity securities
respectively attributable to the interests of all ordinary shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective numbers of
ordinary shares held by them and for the purposes of this resolution ‘rights issue’ means an offer of equity securities open for acceptance
for a period fixed by the directors to (a) holders on the register on a fixed record date of ordinary shares in proportion to their respective
holdings and (b) holders on the register on a fixed record date of other equity securities to the extent expressly required or (if considered
appropriate by the directors) permitted by the rights attached thereto (but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors
may deem necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems under the laws of, or the requirements
of, any regulatory body or any stock exchange in any territory); and

(ii) to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal value of
£2,502,000 and shall (unless previously revoked or varied by the company in general meeting) expire on the date of the next annual
general meeting of the company after the passing of this resolution save that the company may before such expiry make an offer or
agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot equity securities in
pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.

9 To propose as a special resolution that, the company be and is hereby unconditionally and generally authorised for the purpose of
Section 166 of the Companies Act 1985 to make market purchases (within the meaning of Section 163(3) of the Act) of ordinary shares
of 25 pence each in the capital of the company provided that:

(a) the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be purchased is 20,019,000 ordinary shares;

(b) the minimum price which may be paid for each ordinary share is 25 pence and the maximum price which may be paid for each share
is an amount equal to 105% of the average of the middle market quotations of the company’s ordinary shares as derived from the
London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days immediately preceding the day on which such share is contracted to
be purchased, in both cases exclusive of expenses paid; and

(c) this authority shall expire on the date of the next annual general meeting of the company after the passing of this resolution or a date 
18 months from the date of the resolution, whichever is the earlier (except in relation to the purchase of shares the contract for which
was concluded before such date and which would or might be executed wholly or partly after such date).

By order of the board

M C Hoskin Secretary
27th February 2003
Notes
(i) A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and, on a poll, to vote in his stead. Such proxy need not be a member 
of the company.
(ii) There will be available at the registered office of the company on any weekday (except Saturday) during normal business hours from the date of this notice until the date of the
meeting and for a period of 15 minutes prior to and during the annual general meeting, a statement of all transactions of each director (and also, so far as he can reasonably ascertain, 
of his family interests) in the share capital of the company for the past year.
(iii) The company, pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2002, specifies that only those shareholders entered on the register of members of the company
as at 6 pm on 23rd April 2003 shall be entitled to attend or vote at the aforesaid annual general meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. 
Changes to entries on the relevant register of securities after 6 pm on 23rd April 2003 shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

Notice of annual general meeting 
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Sales £817.0m (2001: £535.9m)

+52%
Pre-tax profits £81.6m (before goodwill and
exceptional items) (2001: £70.6m) 

+16%
Adjusted earnings per share 30.40p 
(2001: restated 30.32p) 

level
Dividends per share 14.85p 
(2001: restated 14.12p) 

+5%

Textile maintenance

This business provides workwear rental, linen
hire and washroom services. Within the UK,
Sunlight occupies a leading market position
providing service on a national basis from 
50 laundries. Overseas, the business has a 
presence in France and Ireland. 

Acquired in April 2002, the business offers
a full range of textile maintenance services
from 76 laundries in Scandinavia, Germany,
the Netherlands and Poland.

A wide variety of tools and small plant
for hire through an extensive chain of
outlets, principally in the UK. It has outlets
throughout the UK and Eire, with branches
also in the US, Germany and franchises in 
eight other countries.

Elliott designs and manufactures modular
buildings which are supplied to customers
on a hire or direct sales basis. It is a leader 
in the UK market in both the direct sale
and rental sectors.

Brands

Textile maintenance – Berendsen Brands

Tool hire Brands

Building systems Brands

Locations

UK

Eire

France

Locations

Denmark

Sweden

Norway

Germany

The 
Netherlands

Estonia

Poland

Locations

UK

US

Eire

Germany

Locations

UK

HSS
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International expansion

Registered office
The Davis Service Group Plc
4 Grosvenor Place
London SW1X 7DL
Registered Nº 1480047
Tel: 020 7259 6663
Fax: 020 7259 6948
E-mail: reception@dsgplc.co.uk
Website: www.dsgplc.co.uk
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